
 

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall  

Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy  

  
www.http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 
  

 

Meeting: Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
 
 

 

Date/Time: Thursday, 5 November 2020 at 2.00 pm 

Location: Microsoft Teams 

Contact: Miss C Tuohy (0116 305 5483). 

Email: cat.tuohy@leics.gov.uk 

 
Membership 

 
Mr. A. E. Pearson CC (Chairman) 

 
Mr. D. C. Bill MBE CC 

Mr. G. A. Boulter CC 
Mr. D. Harrison CC 

Mr. Max Hunt CC 
 

Mr. J. Morgan CC 
Mr. L. Phillimore CC 
Mr. J. Poland CC 
Mrs. J. Richards CC 
 

 
Please note: this meeting will be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the 

Council’s YouTube Channel 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCWFpwBLs6MnUzG0WjejrQtQ 

 
AGENDA 

 
 

Item   Report by   
 

  
  

1.  
  

Minutes of the meeting held on 3 September 
2020.  
 

 
 

(Pages 5 - 14) 

2.  
  

Question Time.  
 

 
 

 

3.  
  

Questions asked by members under Standing 
Order 7(3) and 7(5).  
 

 
 

 

4.  
  

To advise of any other items which the 
Chairman has decided to take as urgent 
elsewhere on the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

5.  
  

Declarations of interest in respect of items on 
the agenda.  

 
 

 

mailto:democracy@leics.gov.uk
http://www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCWFpwBLs6MnUzG0WjejrQtQ


 
 
 
 

 
6.  

  
Declarations of the Party Whip in accordance 
with Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 
16.  
 

 
 

 

7.  
  

Presentation of Petitions under Standing Order 
35.  
 

 
 

 

8.  
  

Environment and Transport Annual 
Performance Report 2019/2020.  
 

Chief Executive 
and Director of 
Environment and 
Transport 
 

(Pages 15 - 44) 

9.  
  

Highway Capital Programme 2020/2021 
Update.  
 

Director of 
Environment and 
Transport 
 

(Pages 45 - 58) 

10.  
  

Community Speed Enforcement Initiative.  
 

Director of 
Environment and 
Transport 
 

(Pages 59 - 72) 

11.  
  

Network Management Plan Refresh.  
 

Director of 
Environment and 
Transport 
 

(Pages 73 - 100) 

 There will be a presentation for this item. 
 

 

12.  
  

Date of next meeting.  
 

 
 

 

 The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled to take place on 14 
January 2021 at 2pm.  
 
 

 

13.  
  

Any other items which the Chairman has 
decided to take as urgent.  
 

 
 

 

 
  



 
 
 
 

 
 
 

QUESTIONING BY MEMBERS OF OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
 
The ability to ask good, pertinent questions lies at the heart of successful and effective 
scrutiny.  To support members with this, a range of resources, including guides to 
questioning, are available via the Centre for Public Scrutiny website www.cfps.org.uk.  The 
following questions have been agreed by Scrutiny members as a good starting point for 
developing questions:- 
 

 Who was consulted and what were they consulted on? What is the process for and 
quality of the consultation? 

 How have the voices of local people and frontline staff been heard? 

 What does success look like? 

 What is the history of the service and what will be different this time? 

 What happens once the money is spent? 

 If the service model is changing, has the previous service model been evaluated? 

 What evaluation arrangements are in place – will there be an annual review? 
 
 
 

http://www.cfps.org.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee held at County Hall, Glenfield on Thursday, 3 September 2020.  
 

PRESENT 
 

 
 

Mr. D. C. Bill MBE CC 
Mr. G. A. Boulter CC 
Mr. D. Harrison CC 
Mr. Max Hunt CC 
 

Mr. J. Morgan CC 
Mr. A. E. Pearson CC 
Mr. L. Phillimore CC 
Mr J. Poland CC 
Mrs. J. Richards CC 
 

 
 
In attendance. 
 
Mr. B. Pain CC, Deputy Leader of the Council 
Mr. T. Pendleton CC, Lead Member for Highways and Transportation 
Mr. O. O’Shea JP CC Cabinet Support Member 
 

1. Appointment of Chairman.  
 
RESOLVED: 
That the appointment of Mr. A. E. Pearson CC as Chairman of the Environment and 
Transport Overview and Scrutiny Committee for the period ending with the Annual 
Meeting of the County Council in 2021 be noted.  
 

Mr. A. E. Pearson CC - in the Chair 
 

2. Election of Deputy Chairman.  
 
RESOLVED: 

 

That Mr. J. Poland CC be elected Vice-Chairman of the Environment and Transport 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee for the period ending with the Annual Meeting of the 

County Council in 2021. 

 
3. Minutes.  

 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 4 June 2020 were taken as read, confirmed and 

signed.  

 
4. Question Time.  

 
The Chief Executive report that questions had been received under Standing Order 35. 
 
Dr. Peters asked the following questions of the Chairman:- 

5 Agenda Item 1



 
 

 

1) Please can you clarify whether or not the council consider children’s safety when 
undertaking the tendering process for school bus services and in particular the 
services provided to those who obtain free bus passes, and if so;  whether or not it is 
accurate that on the beaver bus school service to the villages, it is legal (and 
considered acceptable by the council) that 100 children can be transported on a bus 
that has approximately 70 seats? 
 

2) Given the above reported information in terms of numbers of children using the bus, 
please can you clarify the procedures that will be in place in the context of the COVID-
19  global pandemic to manage that up until now, the beaver bus service travels for 
more than an hour around the villages collecting children across 7 different year 
groups from three separate schools and is over-subscribed for the number of seats 
available making social distancing entirely impossible. 
 

3) Please can you clarify why it is not possible for the council to issue vouchers of a set 
value to those eligible for free bus travel to use on whichever bus service they see fit 
(with parents paying the difference as necessary if they opt not to use the cheapest 
service) as this would enable parents to make their own choices as to what is 
acceptable in terms of safety when their children are being taken to school?   
 

4) In response to the FAQ form that I've now seen that covers similar issues - if the bus 
is oversubscribed but the full seating capacity had been reached (in line with the covid 
protocol), what will happen to the children unable to get on the bus? Will additional 
provision be sent or would they simply be refused travel and left at a bus stop? 

 
The Chairman replied as followed:-  

1) “When procuring transport for home to school transport either by bus, coach or 

taxi the safety of the child is the most important criteria that is considered in the 

tender process.  All contracts have to meet strict legal safety standards before 

they are awarded and if they fail to maintain those standards then the contract will 

be removed from them.   

 
In relation to the procurement process for free bus passes for entitled children, bus 
and coach operators are given the opportunity to provide the Council with a set 
price to purchase season tickets on their commercial school services. 
  
As a requirement of the procurement process the operator must have a valid 
operator’s licence.  The main purpose of which is to ensure the safe and proper 
use of buses and coaches.  For an operator to obtain a licence they must satisfy 
the Traffic Commissioner (responsible for licensing and regulation of those who 
operate buses and coaches) that they are of good repute, are of appropriate 
financial standing, have facilities for maintaining their vehicles; and are capable of 
ensuring that all the staff are capable of understanding relevant legislation. 
Therefore, safety is paramount in the delivering of all bus and coach services.  

 
The Council would not purchase season tickets from an operator who failed to 
have a current operator’s licence or did not agree to deliver the service according 
to the County Council’s specified safety requirements.  As such, in accordance 
with the agreement, the County Council will purchase the required season tickets 
from the supplier that represents the best financial value. 
 
The numbers that can be carried on a bus vary from vehicle to vehicle, and exact 
capacities of both seated and standing passengers are dictated by Construction 

6



 
 

 

and Use regulations. The Road Vehicles (Construction and Use) Regulations 1986 
and The Public Service Vehicles (Carrying Capacity) Regulations 1984. Buses that 
are able to carry at least 70 seated passengers are normally double deck vehicles 
and these vehicles would be allowed to carry standing passengers on the lower 
deck only.  Generally, this would be a third of that deck which in most cases would 
be around eight passengers.   It would, therefore be illegal if the capacity was 
exceeded beyond that. The Council regularly inspects the vehicles provided either 
immediately before, during or after operation of any journey to ensure that all 
safety standards are being met. When the Council has observed Beaver Bus at no 
stage has capacity exceeded the legal requirement.   
 

2) The Council’s season ticket agreement for this Academic year has changed 

stating that no standees will be allowed on any vehicle where eligible pupils are 

travelling, meaning operators should only sell tickets to cover the seated capacity 

of their vehicles.  In addition, the agreement placed certain additional requirements 

on the operator as detailed below, these requirements were derived from advice 

from the Council’s Health and Safety section, Public Health England and 

government guidance issued on 2nd July 2020.   

The operator is responsible for ensuring drivers are aware of the necessary 
actions they must take to keep themselves and others safe, in line with this 
agreement and risk assessments undertaken by the bus company. The operator 
will adhere to the following requirements until further notice 
1. Each vehicle should be carefully cleaned before and after every trip. Regularly 

clean all surfaces, including; 

 door handles, hand rails and grips, window handles/buttons; 

 seats and hard surfaces around seats that have been occupied. 

2. Hand sanitiser should be made available on board the vehicle for passengers 
to use when boarding 

3. Signage should be displayed informing passengers of the current passenger 
requirements in relation to COVID19 as and when required 

 

4. Drivers should maintain distance wherever possible, wash hands frequently 
with soap and water (keeping a bottle of water and soap in the vehicle for this 
purpose), doing this for at least 20 seconds each time. Hand sanitiser gel can 
also be used. 

 
5. Drivers should ventilate their vehicle with opened windows wherever possible 

(but be aware of the need to avoid risk of children leaning out of windows). Do 
not set air conditioning or ventilation systems to recirculate air.  

 
6. Where a driver is found to have COVID 19 they should immediately by stood 

down for 14 days and the Council informed immediately. 
 
7. If a passenger appears unwell with symptoms on the journey to school, the 

driver should immediately inform the appropriate school staff on arrival, before 
any passengers alight the vehicle.   

 
8. All passengers should be seated for the whole duration of the journey and no 

capacity for standees should be used. 
 

7



 
 

 

9. If a child is unwell at their school or setting, they must be collected by a 
member of their family or household.  

 
10. Drivers are not mandated to wear face coverings or masks but can do so if 

they wish or instructed by their employer to do so. 
 
The Council is currently working with operators to ensure that they follow the most 
recent government guidance on school transport so where possible schools are 
served separately. 

3) The Councils observations have not resulted in any breaches of safety standards 

including the overloading of vehicles.  However, as a result of COVID-19 the 

Council has put in place new measures in the delivery of home to school transport 

on dedicated transport services, this includes the elimination of standing 

passengers.   

As the operator has therefore met all the requirements of the season ticket 

agreement the Council is happy to purchase season tickets from them to provide 

free place for entitled children on a commercial service enabling the Council to 

meet its statutory duty of transporting distance entitled children for free to school.  

On occasions where it can be demonstrated it is of best value to the Council a 

petrol allowance to the parent can be offered to enable them to take their entitled 

pupil to school. However, given that the season ticket agreement with commercial 

services provides best value to the Council this is unlikely to be offered  as an 

option.    

On most occasions the Council’s season ticket arrangement makes the 

commercial service viable and therefore the operator is able to offer season tickets 

values at best value to the Council as well as to non-entitled pupils, without this 

arrangement while the costs would not increase to entitled users they would to the 

Council.    

 

4) Beaver Bus, as with others who are carrying entitled pupils as part of the season 

ticket agreement are no longer allowed standing passengers and should only sell 

season tickets to meet the seated capacity of the vehicle.  As long as this is 

observed then no children will be left at the stop.   

We are aware that Beaver Bus have declined parents season tickets as they do 
not have available capacity.          
Where there are additional pressures on the wider public transport network the 
Council has worked with local bus operators to identify where there may be 
capacity issues from children returning to school.  Where there is likely to be 
capacity issues the Council has funded additional capacity with monies made 
available from the Department for Education until the Autumn half term in the form 
of additional journeys, duplicate buses or increasing the size of the vehicle.” 

 
Dr Peters asked the following supplementary questions: 
 
Could clarification be provided on whether school buses have CCTV, and if so, are they 
used to monitor pupils standing on the upper deck, and the number of children in 
seating? 
Secondly why school trips accompanied by teachers require children to wear seatbelts, 
but non-accompanied commutes to school do not? 
 
The Director of Environment and Transport on behalf of the Chairman replied as follows: 
 

8



 
 

 

“The majority of home to school buses do not have CCTV installed as it is not a 
requirement of Leicestershire County Council, or a legal requirement.  The County 
Council is clear in its message that no pupil should be standing on the upper deck, or on 
the lower deck following the COVID-19 addition to County Council bus contracts. If such 
behaviour was observed then it should be reported to the driver, parents and the school 
as it should be everyone’s responsibility to ensure children have a safe journey to school. 
 
The provision of seatbelts is dependent on the type of vehicle, on minibuses and coaches 
it is a legal requirement, however for service vehicles such as buses and double decker’s 
it is not a mandatory requirement, thus not mandatory for children to wear them.” 
 
Following further comments and concerns from both the questioner and Members the 
Director informed the Committee that it was difficult to police and enforce any behavioural 
issues on home to school transport and this was the case even prior to COVID-19. 
Where problematic behaviour related to a child who was eligible for free school transport 
then the Council could, in extreme circumstances, exclude that user from that particular 
transport mode. However, not all transport was commissioned by the County Council and 
a number of services such as Beaver Bus were commissioned by schools directly and as 
such the Council could not take action in relation to those fee paying students. The 
County Council would continue to work with bus operators and schools to reinforce the 
message to parents and students. 
 
The Committee thanked Dr Peters for attending and bringing the issues to their attention 
with the questions raised.  
 

5. Questions asked by members. 
 
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 
7(3) and 7(5). 
 

6. Urgent Items 
 
There were no urgent items for consideration. 
 

7. Declarations of interest.  
 
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of 
items on the agenda for the meeting. 
 
No declarations were made. 
 

8. Declarations of the Party Whip.  
 
There were no declarations of the party whip. 
 

9. Presentation of Petitions.  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no petitions had been received under Standing Order 
35. 
 

10. Environment and Transport Performance Report Quarter 1 2020/21  
 

9



 
 

 

The Committee considered a report of the Director of Environment and Transport and 
Chief Executive on the Environment and Transport’s Performance for Quarter 1 of 
2020/2021. A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda Item 10’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
The Director informed the Committee that 17 of the performance indicators had seen 
improvement, while seven had declined and 19 remained the same as the previous 
update. Arising from the discussion the following points were noted:- 
 

i) Two new air quality indicators had been included in the performance report to 

reflect the importance of air quality on health and wellbeing. While air quality 

management duties were the responsibility of district authorities it was recognised 

that the County Council also had a key role to play. Members were aware from an 

All Member Briefing and discussion at the Scrutiny Commission that the Director of 

Public Health was working with the district councils and partners to look at 

reducing the impact of air pollution on health and the environment and the 

Environment and Transport Department would support that work where required. 

Further consideration would be given to the indicators and how they could be 

presented. 

 

ii) The Department for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs had created a 

£2million fund for air quality initiatives. The County Council was awaiting the 

detailed criteria for the funding, which initially looked to focus on community group 

schemes. However it was recognised £2million nationally would not likely go far.  

 

iii) The percentage of the unclassified road network where maintenance should be 

considered had increased from 15% in 2018/19 to 16% in 2019/20. The County 

Council managed its assets in line with Government guidance which focused on a 

risk-based approach and looked to do preventative rather than reactive work. 

However, funding from Government was insufficient. While the County Council 

undertook planned work to extend the life cycle of its routes there was not enough 

resource to stop the decline on the network entirely. Despite this in comparison 

with other equivalent authorities the Council remained in the top quartile of 

performance. The Lead Member for Highways and Transportation assured the 

Committee that the issue was continually monitored and that he would continue to 

take the issue to Cabinet and to look to lobby Government with support from the 

Local Government Association and the County Councils Network. 

 

iv) The Department was unable to continue its surface dressing programme due to 

difficulty in social distancing for this operation. Instead, the allocated funding was 

used to fund other treatments on the network.  The Director informed the 

Committee that Government had amalgamated a number of maintenance funds 

available to councils, of which the County Council had received £14million, but 

some of this funding was ring fenced to specific schemes. A report on the 

additional funding would be brought to the Committee in November.  

 

v) The Council monitored domestic properties with an Energy Performance certificate 

rating C+ for new and existing homes. The most recent figures showed that the 

percentage of those existing dwellings for Leicestershire was 34% compared to 

40% nationally. However, in relation to new builds Leicestershire’s percentage was 

99% and outperforming the English average of 94%.  

 

10



 
 

 

vi) Mr Hunt raised a concern regarding the classification of vulnerable road users that 

included pedestrians, cyclists and motorcyclists, due to the substantial differences 

between them. The Director assured Members that the annual casualty report 

went into greater detail on the statistics and split the figures at a deeper level to 

provide more contextual information to the Committee. The indicator used within 

the performance report was a definition used nationally.  

 

vii) The County Council was unable to recycle material at any cost due to the funding 

available to the authority. The Department continued to monitor the hard plastics 

(‘bric a brac’ and toy market) and had material available to send to market to see if 

recycling was viable financially. Unfortunately, during the COVID-19 crisis the 

market was constrained. It was hoped this issue would be addressed by 

Government’s Extended Producer Responsibility system that would put the onus 

on the producers of the product to be responsible for the cost at end of life: 

currently this cost fell on the County Council.  

 

viii)The booking system for the Recycling and Household Waste sites had been 

introduced in a short timescale during the pandemic. While there had been some 

glitches in general it had worked to prevent queuing and keep the public and staff 

safe. Since its initial introduction the number of slots households could  book in a 

fortnight has risen from one to two and would increase again in the near future. 

Limits had originally been placed due to the complexity of co-located sites and the 

length of time it took at some sites to deposit waste. The system would be in place 

for the medium-term so the County Council could continue to prioritise the safety 

of all involved.  

 

ix) A concern was raised regarding the introduction of pop-up cycleways and the risk 

they posed with the removal of some bus lanes (such as the A47 into Leicester) 

which would potentially increase congestion, and thus exposure to air pollution.  

The Director informed the Committee that Government had allocated £335,000 to 

the County Council to encourage more people to walk and cycle following 

Government’s initial message to not use public transport. Since that time 

Government’s message had changed and Leicestershire County Council had bid 

for the second tranche of funding (with a provisional allocation of £1.2million) to 

create more permanent measures for walking and cycling. The Government had 

also introduced a new strategy for active travel that placed further emphasis on 

walking and cycling, which the County Council as Transport Authority needed to 

support otherwise risk not receiving future funding. The Department would bring a 

future report on the matter to the Committee. 

The Deputy Leader thanked the Committee for their comments and observations on the 
performance report and noted that while certain indicators were beyond the Council’s 
control it was important to look at the wider Leicestershire picture which would help the 
Council in its aim to become net carbon neutral by 2030 and net carbon neutral for 
Leicestershire as a whole by 2050. 
 
RESOVLED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
 

11. COVID-19 Recovery Update.  

11



 
 

 

 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Environment and Transport and 

Director of Corporate Resources regarding COVID-19 Recovery within the Department. A 

copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda Item 11’ is filed with these minutes. 

 

Arising from the discussion the following points were noted:- 

 

i) The cost of the pandemic on the Department was estimated at £6.5million. While 

there had been areas of savings, extra transport costs (especially related to SEN 

transport), delays in construction of major projects and increased waste disposal 

costs had resulted in the additional spending pressures. 

 

ii) All Park and Ride Sites, excluding the Birstall site, were up and running. The 

Birstall site remained out of action due to its use as a COVID-19 testing centre 

until at least the end of October. The County Council was in discussion with the 

Government to consider whether the site could accommodate the testing centre 

and the park and ride jointly as this was thought feasible due to the lower usage of 

public transport.  

  

iii) The County Council had been allocated £335,000 from the emergency active 

travel fund to put in place temporary measures to encourage walking and cycling 

along key transport corridors. The County Council hoped to secure further funding.  

 

iv) In manging the cost implications of COVID19 the Department had reviewed its 

capital programme and made a number of changes to the programme.  

 

v) It was noted that perceived danger and safety concerns hindered the take up of  

active travel. There was also concerns regarding shared pavement space between 

pedestrians, cyclists and scooters. The County Council would continue to look at 

how it could manage its limited road space to ensure users remain safe. 

The Committee thanked the Department and officers for the work undertaken in keeping 
critical services going during the pandemic and all the work ongoing for recovery within 
the Department and Council.   

 

RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted 
 

12. Impact of COVID-19 on School Transport and how Leicestershire County Council Intend 
to Address the Potential Issue of Increased School Gate Parking.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Environment and Transport 

regarding the impact of COVID-19 on School Parking and how the County Council 

intended to address the potential issues that arose. A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda 

Item 12’ is filed with these minutes.  

 

The Director set out the challenging circumstances the County Council faced since 

Government announced schools would return. There were 321 schools with a combined 

100,000 pupils in Leicestershire that would return to schools a week before the rest of the 

country. Despite the limited guidance provided the County Council had put together a 

12



 
 

 

comprehensive back to school plan that built upon its current offering and focused on 

communication to schools, parents, Elected Members, parish councillors, local 

businesses and residents. The Director reported that whilst she was pleased with the 

work it had undertaken it was clear with more time and resource more could be done.  

 

Arising from the discussion the following points were noted:- 

 

i. Camera Cars and Enforcement Officers had started patrolling outside schools 

where parking was a known issue, several people had already been caught 

parking on zig-zag lines. 

 

ii. The Department had started to receive feedback from parish councils regarding 

the physical measures communities might want to pilot and these would be funded 

from the £1million fund the Council had set aside for community schemes.  

 

iii. The County Council had stood up its 100 School Crossing Patrols, despite not 

being a statutory duty and would look into encouraging schools to start walking 

busses or park and stride sites. The Committee was assured that the Department 

continually monitored accident reports, however there was no recorded safety 

issues on school routes, and as with active travel the issue was more a problem of  

perceived danger.   

 

iv. The Department for Transport had asked authorities to survey schools regarding 

transport arrangements. To date only the department had received a handful of 

responses but it was intended to repeat  the survey which would include questions 

on how the County Council could improve communications with schools. 

 

RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted.  
 

13. Corporate Complaints and Compliments Annual Report 2019-20.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Environment and Transport and the 
Director of Corporate Resources on the Annual Corporate Complaints and Compliments 
in relation to the Environment and Transport Department. A copy of the report, marked 
‘Agenda Item 13’ is filed with these minutes. 
Arising from the discussion the following points were noted:- 
 
i. There had been 231 complaints in 2019/20 for the Department. 90% of complaints 

were responded to within 20 days. Only two had been outside of the 65 working 

days limit. 

 

ii. The increase in complaints in relation to SEN Transport corresponded with a 

delayed start to the annual planning which was necessary as the Council was 

awaiting the decision of the Judicial Review of  post-16 SEN transport proposals. 

 

iii. Complaints received regarding highway repairs were in the main about the time 

taken to respond and complete works as well as the where the defect did not meet 

the criteria for intervention. It was key for the Department to manage expectations 

13



 
 

 

given the reduction in resources and to that end some progress had been made 

with the introduction of risk management approach. 

 

iv. Drainage and Grass Cutting were good examples of the improvement in 

communication and methods of working. The Council now provided  mapping of 

Grass Cutting information on the website and a programme schedule of  gully 

emptying. 

 

v. Only seven complaints had been escalated to the Local Government and Social 

Care Ombudsman and in only one case had the Ombudsman found 

maladministration in relation to advice provided regarding a dropped curb. No 

financial compensation was required and the County Council had since improved 

the information provided.   

 

The Committee thanked officers for the in-depth report and the compliments that praised 
a lot of the work that sometimes went unnoticed.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
 

14. Dates of Future Meetings.  
 

RESOLVED: 

 

That future meetings of the Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee will be held at 2pm on the following dates:- 

5 November 2020 
14 January 2021 
4 March 2021 
3 June 2021 
2 September 2021 
4 November 2021 

 

 
 

2.00  - 3.55 pm CHAIRMAN 
03 September 2020 

 

14



 
 

 
 

 
 

ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE – 5 NOVEMBER 2020 

 
ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 

2019/20  
 

JOINT REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND DIRECTOR OF 
ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT  

 
 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to provide the Environment and Transport Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee with an Annual Performance update of the Environment and 
Transport Department for 2019/20. 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
2. The updates in this report reflect progress against the Environment and Transport 

performance framework including the Strategic Outcomes Framework within the 
Strategic Plan and related high-level plans and strategies such as the Environment 
Strategy.    
 

Background 
 
3. This report includes Appendix A, containing two performance dashboards and 

commentary on the Environment and Transport Department’s key priorities and 
progress against the Council’s Strategic Plan outcomes. The first dashboard 
summarises Highways and Transport performance and the second summarises 
Environment and Waste performance. The indicators included are a mixture of 
national and locally-developed performance indicators, which are the pre-refreshed 
indicators that covered 2019/20.  
 

4. The Council’s performance is benchmarked against 33 authorities which covers 
large, principally non-urban, geographical areas. Where it is available, the 
dashboards indicate which quartile Leicestershire’s performance falls into. The 1st 
quartile is defined as performance that falls within the top 25% of county areas (the 
best). The 4th quartile is defined as performance that falls within the bottom 25% of 
county areas (the worst). The data reported is for the year end 2019/20. The 
Environment and Transport Annual Report highlights (drafts attached Appendix B) 
will be included in the Council’s Annual Report 2019/20. 

 
5. Improvement or deterioration in performance is indicated by the direction of the 

arrows (direction of travel (DOT)) on the performance dashboard. For example, if the 
number of road casualties has fallen the DOT will show an arrow pointing upwards. If 
the indicator does not have a DOT arrow, this is because no update has been 

15 Agenda Item 8



 
 

received. This may be due to the time taken to obtain data from third parties and 
calculate the results.   

 
6. Overall, there are 29 performance indicators in the Environment and Transport 

performance dashboards which are aligned with the Council’s Strategic Outcomes.   
 
Performance Update – Annual Report 2019/20 
 
7. The Annual Report dashboard shows performance for the Environment and 

Transport department for 2019/120. The dashboards in Appendix A show the 
indicator: the quartile position; the direction of travel of performance; end of year 
data; target/standard; the previous end of year data; polarity and commentary. 
 

8. Improvement or deterioration in performance is indicated by the direction of the 
arrows on the dashboard. Where a direction of travel is available: 12 show 
improvements, 4 had declined and 12 remained the same as the previous year.  

 
9. The Council is in the top quartile (1) for: Satisfaction with cycle routes/lanes & 

facilities (NHT)’, ‘Satisfaction with pavement & footpaths (NHT)’, ‘Percentage of the A 
classified road network where structural maintenance should be considered)’,  and 
‘Percentage of the B&C classified road network where structural maintenance should 
be considered)’, ‘Overall satisfaction with the condition of highways’, ‘Total casualties 
on our roads’ and ‘People killed or seriously injured in road traffic accidents’. The 
Council is in the bottom quartile (4) for the ‘% of local authority collected waste 
landfilled’. 

 
Highways and Transport 
 
10. The following Highways and Transport indicators support the transport section of the 

‘Strong Economy’ Outcome, dashboard 1 in Appendix A, except for the two road 
casualty indicators that support the ‘Keeping People Safe’ outcome. 
 

11. The ‘Average vehicle speeds during the morning peak (7am-10am) on locally 
managed ‘A’ roads in Leicestershire’ indicator remained at 31mph, exceeding its 
30mph target. This indicator is below average when compared to other English 
county councils (3rd quartile). Average vehicle speeds are used as a proxy measure 
for peak time congestion. Tackling congestion continues to be a priority, with several 
road schemes progressing to help alleviate it. 
 

12. Satisfaction with traffic levels and congestion is derived from the National Highways 
and Transport Network (NHT) satisfaction survey. The NHT Public Satisfaction 
Survey collects public perspectives on, and satisfaction with, Highway and Transport 
Services in Local Authority areas. Satisfaction with traffic levels has declined slightly 
again this year in performance from 34% to 32%. This is below average when 
compared to other English Counties as the County Council is in the third quartile in 
2019.   

 
13. Businesses perceptions of congestion in the County are gathered in the Leicester 

and Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership (LLEP) business survey every 2-3 years. 
Due to the infrequency of when the survey takes place the results have not been 
updated since 2017. New results are expected in December 2020. The percentage of 

16



 
 

employers who perceived a reduction in congestion would significantly benefit them 
therefore remained at 28% (LLEP Business survey 2017).  

 
14. ‘Satisfaction with cycle/routes and facilities’ derived from the NHT Survey Report 

2019 remained static at 38%. The Council remains in the top quartile compared to 
other participating county councils in 2019.  

 
15. The NHT Satisfaction Survey results for ‘pavements and footpaths’ improved in 

performance slightly with satisfaction increasing to 62% in 2019 from 60% in 2018. 
This indicator continues to perform well when compared to other English Counties, in 
the top quartile. 

 
16. Leicestershire continues to have some of the best maintained roads in the country 

and the Council was amongst the highest rated county councils for satisfaction with 
condition of highways in the NHT Public Satisfaction survey in 2019, in the top 
quartile. The percentage of the principal A class roads within the road network for 
where structural maintenance should be considered remained relatively static at 2% 
during 2019/20 and has met its 4% target. Similarly, the percentage of the non- 
principal B and C class roads where structural maintenance should be considered 
also remained relatively static at 3% during 2019/20 and has met its 6% target. Both 
‘A class’ and ‘B and C class roads’ perform in the top quartile compared to other 
English county councils.  

 
17. The ‘percentage of unclassified roads where maintenance should be considered’ 

increased slightly to 16% this year from 15% in the previous year, which is static 
performance.  However, the benchmark position places Leicestershire above 
average when compared to other English county councils (second quartile in 
2018/19). The decline in the condition of our roads is due to a national lack of funding 
for Capital Maintenance schemes over the last decade. This means the County 
Council has a maintenance backlog to deal with and must prioritise where funding is 
spent each year. Funding is therefore targeted at assets that are in a poor/moderate 
condition where the risks to multiple highway users is the greatest.  

 
18. Unclassified roads generally carry lower volumes of traffic and are less strategically 

important than other road classes therefore generally receive less funding to maintain 
them. In addition to this, unclassified roads equate to 56% of Leicestershire’s entire 
road network which means there are a lot of roads that must be repaired to make a 
significant change to their overall condition. Therefore, their condition continues to 
deteriorate. Climate change is continually causing frequent damage to all assets due 
to the freeze thaw action of ice/snow during winter, hot summers causing bitumen to 
melt, spells of drought causing roads to crack. At the same time traffic volumes 
continue to rise.  

 
19. In 2019/20, the Council gritted all its priority routes 1 and 2 (which covered 47% of 

the network). The Council has a fleet of 23 gritters available, three of which are state 
of the art vehicles. The other twenty vehicles have also been fitted with the latest sat-
nav technology, to ensure all routes are gritted as efficiently as possible. This year, 
the Council’s grit barns were stocked up with 18,000 tonnes of rock salt. 

 
20. The latest update for ‘Overall satisfaction with the condition of our roads,’ derived 

from the NHT Survey Report 2019 improved in performance from 29% in 2018 to 

17



 
 

37% in 2019. It has met its target and remains in the top quartile when compared to 
other English counties. 

 
21. The ‘% of footpaths and other rights of way that are signposted and easy to use’ 

declined in performance slightly to 74% (2019/20) from 77% the previous year.  
 

22. CO2 emissions from transport within Local Authority influence declined from 1,192 
kilotons in 2017 to 1,183 kilotons in 2018, showing a slight improvement in 
performance since the previous year. It remained above average when compared to 
other English counties. 

 
23. Results from the 2019 NHT survey show that satisfaction with local bus services has 

remained static at 58%. This was above average compared to other English county 
councils (2nd quartile). 

 
24. Local bus passenger journeys originating in the authority area’ declined from 13.05 

million in March 2019 to 12.6 million in March 2020, against a target of 12.8 million, 
showing a small decline in performance. The Covid-19 pandemic will have 
dampened passenger journeys at the end of the financial year. This mirrors the 
national trend of declining bus patronage. However, this indicator is in the third 
quartile, when comparing bus passenger journeys per head to other English county 
councils. Since 2015/16 Leicestershire’s passenger journeys have varied between 
13-14 million. The NHT Survey Report 2019 reported that in Leicestershire 58% of 
survey participants were satisfied with bus services overall. 

 
25. The following road safety indicators in this section support the Council’s ‘Keeping 

people safe’ outcome, within dashboard 1 in Appendix A. 
 
26. ‘Total casualties on our roads’ improved in performance following a 17% decrease in 

casualties from 1,207 in 2018/19 to 996 in 2019/20. It has met its interim target of 
fewer than 1,542 casualties and is in the top quartile compared to other English 
county councils for 2018. The data should be treated with a degree of caution due to 
possible underreporting of accidents following changes to police reporting 
procedures in 2017 (reported to this committee in the ‘Road casualty reduction in 
Leicestershire’ report in March 2020). The Police are trialling new methods to ensure 
they more accurately report on road accidents in future. 

 
27. The number of people killed or seriously injured on the Council’s roads also improved 

in performance due to a 29% decrease in the number of casualties from 245 in 
2018/19 to 175 in 2019/20 close to the target of fewer than 171 casualties. The 
Council continues to remain in the top quartile compared to other English county 
councils. 

 
Environment and Waste  
 
28. The following waste performance indicators support the Council’s ‘Great 

Communities’ outcome except for the two Leicestershire County Council waste 
indicators which support the ‘Corporate Enabler’ outcome, as identified in dashboard 
2 of Appendix A. 
 

29. ‘The total household waste per household’ has remained the same as the previous 
year at 1,031kg. In comparison to other English county councils Leicestershire’s 

18



 
 

performance is in the third quartile in 2018/19. Analysis of the 2016/17 results (and 
other national research) shows a correlation between prosperity and waste per 
household, with higher prosperity levels linked to higher levels of waste. 
Leicestershire is relatively prosperous compared to other counties, which may be a 
contributing factor. 

 
30. The proportion of household waste sent by local authorities across Leicestershire for 

reuse, recycling or composting’ remained steady at 45% below its 50% 
target.  Compared to other English county councils Leicestershire is in the third 
quartile 2018/19. Throughout 2019/20 the Council continued to: deliver waste 
education to schools, community groups and residents; promote cut price compost 
bins; promote recycling grants and reusable nappies to encourage more reuse, 
recycling and composting in Leicestershire. At the end of the year Covid-19 meant 
some waste services across the County were temporarily disrupted or suspended, 
however the impact of this will not be seen until the until the next year and will be 
reported on at a future meeting.  
 

31. The ‘percentage of municipal waste sent to landfill’ has had an improvement in 
performance as a result of a reduction in municipal waste sent to landfill from 33.8% 
in 2018/19 to 32.2% in 2019/20, closer to its 30% target. It has not met the target due 
the loss of alternative (non-landfill) disposal points, which is outside of the Council’s 
control as previously reported to the Committee. Leicestershire remains in the fourth 
quartile for this indicator compared to other English county councils.  The reasons 
behind this lower than average performance includes national issues, seasonal 
fluctuations in garden waste and the impact of the economy, as well as issues 
specific to Leicestershire, such as the closure of the Cotesbach Mechanical 
Biological Treatment plant (MBT).  

 
32. Most of the factors identified are beyond the control of the County Council limiting the 

opportunity to mitigate the impacts.  The authority is in the process of negotiating an 
increase in the amount of waste delivered to alternative disposal points. The 
department anticipates a significant improvement in performance post procurement 
following the implementation of new arrangements to divert additional waste from 
landfill to treatment and the Waste Team report that provisional quarter 1 figures are 
on track. This will also help reduce the amount of waste sent to landfill in future 
years. 
 

33. The ‘tonnes of waste produced from LCC sites (non-operational)’ improved again in 
performance this year as waste decreased by 8% from 389 tonnes (2018/19) to 358 
tonnes (2019/20) and has met its interim target of fewer than 422 tonnes. Overall, this 
indicator has shown a long-term improvement (i.e. reduction in waste) since 2012-13. 

 
34. The ‘Percent of Waste recycled from LCC sites’ performance was static at 61% close 

to its target of 61.5%. Since 2014/15, this indicator has varied between 54% and 
61%. This figure reflects in part the progress made due to implementation of a range 
of new approaches to make it easier for staff to recycle.  

 
35. The percentage of staff who say LCC is doing enough to reduce its environmental 

impact declined marginally in performance from 91% to 89% since the previous year. 
But not statistically significant.  It continues to meet its 79% target. 

 

19



 
 

36. The following environmental impact performance indicators mostly support the 
Council’s ‘Great Communities; and ‘Corporate Enabler’ outcomes, within dashboard 
2 in Appendix A. The ‘total CO2 emissions from LCC operations (excluding schools)’ 
showed another annual improvement in performance as the Council’s carbon 
emissions have reduced this year by 5%. Emissions fell to 10,540 tonnes in 2019/20 
from 11,106 tonnes in 2018/19 and are well ahead of their target.  

 
37. ‘Carbon emissions from LCC buildings’ reduced by 4%, from 3,790 tonnes in 2018/19 

to 3,639 tonnes in 2019/20 resulting in improved performance that is well ahead of its 
target. This is mainly due to a reduction in the carbon intensity of grid electricity, as 
well as an increase in renewable energy (both solar and biomass) now being used to 
replace fossil fuel consumption. 

 
38. Carbon emissions from LCC street lighting and traffic signs improved notably in 

performance, as emissions fell by 17% (from 2,830 tonnes in 2018/19 to 2,338 
tonnes in 2019/20) and exceeded its target (6,079 tonnes). This is partly due to the 
lower carbon conversion factor, which is an emission conversion factor converting 
fuel to greenhouse gas emissions used by UK based organisations. This is set by the 
Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) and released 
annually.  A low carbon conversion factor reflects increased electricity generation 
from renewables and the switch away from burning coal in power stations. 

 
39. The improvement in performance is also partly due to energy saving measures the 

Council has introduced. There is an ongoing programme of ‘trimming and dimming’ 
across the county to further reduce the carbon impact of street lighting.  Trimming is 
where the lights switch on later at the night and switch off earlier in the morning, this 
can be done with LED’s as the lights do not need to warm up unlike the old sodium 
lighting.  Dimming stages have been introduced to reflect the reduction in traffic 
levels throughout the hours of darkness, allowing reduced lighting levels at 8pm and 
again at midnight (where the lights stay on all night) in line with current design 
codes.  These measures will have contributed to the reduction.  As the national grid 
continues to decarbonise energy supply, performance in this indicator is expected to 
continue to improve over the long term. 

 
40. The number of ‘Total Business miles claimed’ improved in performance as they fell 

from 5,835,000 (2018/19) to 5,560,000 (2019/20). The Green Fleet Review, in 
conjunction with the 10-year vehicle replacement plan project, will identify fresh ways 
to reduce business miles claimed. This may take the form of encouraging car sharing 
and departmental pool cars.  

 
41. The ‘Amount of renewable energy generated as a percentage of consumption’ was 

introduced following the Council’s pledge to use 100% clean energy by 2050 as part 
of the UK100 campaign. The Council has seen a little improvement in performance 
from 16% in 2018/19 to 15.6% in 2019/20 and has met its target of 13.9%.  

 
42. Renewable Heat Incentive (RHI) deployment data (Domestic) improved in 

performance as it increased from 34 (2018/19) to 37 (2019/20) per 10,000 
households. This RHI supports the installation of renewable and low-carbon-heating 
by individual households. RHI Payments are made over a seven-year period and, in 
most cases, are estimated using values from the dwelling’s Energy Performance 
Certificate (EPC).  Statistics for the Renewable Heat Incentive (RHI) details the 
number of applications and accredited installations on the domestic schemes so far.  

20



 
 

This data covers the number of accreditations by local authority. The Council has 
little influence over this. 

 
43. The latest data for ‘CO2 emissions per capita (in LA influence)’ has remained similar 

in performance, improving slightly from 5.2 tonnes per person (tpp) in 2017 to 5.1 tpp 
in 2018 and has met its target. This data is produced by the government two years in 
arrears. This indicator excludes: Road Transport (Motorways), Diesel Railways and 
Net emissions from Land Use, Land-Use Change and Forestry on the grounds that 
these are outside of local authority control. This indicator is in the third quartile when 
compared to other English county councils.  

 
Background papers 
 
Leicestershire County Council’s Strategic Outcomes Framework and Plans 2018-22  
 
NHT (National Highways and Transport Network) 2019, Summary Report for 
Leicestershire , details for the full set of E&T comparable indicators (2020 is due in 
December 2020). 
 
Leicester and Leicestershire Business Survey 2017 
 
 
Circulation under Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
None. 
 
Equalities and Human Rights Implications  
 
There are no specific equal opportunities implications to note as part of this performance 
report. 
 
List of Appendices 
 
Appendix A – 1. Transport Performance Annual Report Dashboard, 2019/20 
 

2. Environment and Waste Annual Report Dashboard, 2019/20 
 

Appendix B – 1. Transport Performance Delivery Narrative, 2019/20 
 
2. Environment and Waste Performance Delivery Narrative, 2019/20 

  
Officers to Contact 
Ann Carruthers, Director, Environment and Transport Department 
(0116) 305 7000 
Ann.Carruthers@leics.gov.uk  
 
Nicola Truslove, Business Partner, Business Intelligence Service 
(0116) 305 8302 
Nicola.Truslove@leics.gov.uk  
 
Andy Brown, Team leader, Business Intelligence Service 
(0116) 305 6096  Andy.Brown@leics.gov.uk  

21

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/council-plans/the-strategic-plan
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/council-plans/the-strategic-plan
https://tableau.leics.gov.uk/views/BenchmarkingDashboard2018-19/Indicators?:showAppBanner=false&:display_count=n&:showVizHome=n&:origin=viz_share_link
https://tableau.leics.gov.uk/views/BenchmarkingDashboard2018-19/Indicators?:showAppBanner=false&:display_count=n&:showVizHome=n&:origin=viz_share_link
https://www.llep.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/Leicestershire-Business-Survey_FINAL_singles.pdf
mailto:Ann.Carruthers@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Nicola.Truslove@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Andy.Brown@leics.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A.  1  Highways & Transport

Strong Economy - Transport
Strategic 

Plan
Description

Quartile 

position

Direction of 

Travel

End of Yr 

2019/20

Target / 

Standard

End of Yr 

2018/19
Polarity Commentary

Strategic Transport Infrastructure

*
Average vehicle speeds during the weekday morning peak 

(7am-10am) on locally managed ‘A’ roads in Leicestershire 

(mph)

3rd (2018) →
31.1

(2019)
30.3

31.1 

(2018)
High

The annual ‘average vehicle speeds during the morning peak (7am-

10am) on locally managed ‘A’ roads' indicator, remained static at 

31mph in 2018 and 2019 and continued to exceed its 30mph 

target. Quartile position reflects average speed on local 'A'roads.

Satisfaction with traffic levels & congestion (NHT 

satisfaction survey) (%)
3rd (2019) ↓ 31.9% 42% 34.4% High

Satisfaction with traffic levels has declined  in performance again 

from 34% (2018) to 32% (2019).  It performs below average when 

compared to other English County Councils. 

* % of businesses citing concerns about traffic congestion -
28% 

(2017)
<37%

28% 

(2017)
Low The results of the 2020 survey are due in December 2020.

Satisfaction with cycle routes/lanes & facilities (NHT 

satisfaction) (%)
1st (2019) → 37.6% 47.0% 38.4% High

Satisfaction has remained relatively static since the previous year 

at 38%. Despite this Leicestershire was ranked in the top quartile 

compared to participating counties in the NHT 2019.

Satisfaction with pavements & footpaths (NHT satisfaction) 

(%)
1st (2019) ↑ 62.2% 68.0% 60.0% High Satisfaction has improved since the previous year.

Sustainable Transport & Road Maintenance

*
% of principal (A class) road network where structural 

maintenance should be considered 

1st 

(2018/19)
→ 2% 2-4% 1% Low

Leicestershire continues to have some of the best maintained 

roads in the country. The ‘percentage of classified roads (A class) 

where structural maintenance should be considered’ was 2% 

during 2019/20 and has met its 4% target. 

*
% of non-principal (B & C class) road network where 

structural maintenance should be considered 

1st 

(2018/19)
→ 3% 4-6% 2% Low

Performance has remained relatively static for this indicator.  It has 

met it's target.

% of the unclassified road network where maintenance 

should be considered (visual inspection)

2nd 

(2018/19)
→ 16% <13% 15% Low

The ‘percentage of unclassified roads where maintenance should 

be considered’ increased to 16% in 2019/20 from 15% in the 

previous year, resulting in a decline in performance.  This indicator 

has missed its target range of 9% to 13% and has slipped into the 

2nd quartile compared to other County Councils (2018/19). The 

decline in condition of unclassified roads has been exacerbated by 

the extreme hot and cold weather and the lack of funding for 

Capital Maintenance Schemes over the past decade.

23



Strong Economy - Transport
Strategic 

Plan
Description

Quartile 

position

Direction of 

Travel

End of Yr 

2019/20

Target / 

Standard

End of Yr 

2018/19
Polarity Commentary

% of network gritted - → 47% 47% 47% High

We expect to grit all our priority 1 and 2 routes (which cover 47% 

of the network).  In 2019/20 we successfully gritted all these 

routes. 

*
Overall satisfaction with the condition of highways (NHT 

satisfaction survey) (%)
1st (2019) ↑ 36.6% top quartile 29.3% High

This indicator improved in performance since the previous year 

and continues to perform well compared to other county councils 

as it remains in the top quartile.

% of footpaths and other rights of way that are signposted 

and easy to use
- ↓ 74.2% 75% 77% High

This indicator declined in performance slighty from 77% (2018/19) 

to 74.2% (2019/20) and is now below its 75% target.

CO2 emissions from transport within LA influence (Kt) 2nd (2018) ↑
1182.58 

(2018)

1192.11 

(2017)
Low

This indicator improved in performance since the previous year 

and continues to perform above average when compared to other 

county councils. This data is taken from the published subset and 

represents carbon dioxide emissions within the scope of influence 

of Local Authorities. 

Overall satisfaction with local bus services (%)  2nd (2019) → 58.0% 56.0% 58.8% High

Results from the 2019 NHT survey show that satisfaction with local 

bus services has remained static at 58% and peforms above the 

average for comparable English Counties during 2019 (2nd 

quartile).

* Number of bus journeys (m)
3rd 

(2018/19)
↓ 12.6m 12.8m 13.05m High

There has been a decline in overall passenger journeys compared 

to 2018/19, reflecting a national trend.  Figures may have been 

impacted slightly by the start of the Covid-19 pandemic.

Road Safety (Keeping People Safe)

* Total casualties on our roads 1st (2018) ↑ 996 1542 1207 low

There was a decline in road casualties from 1,207 in 2018/19 to 996 

in 2019/20 showing an improvement in performance and has met 

its target. It remains in the top quartile compared to other English 

county councils. This data should be treated with caution due to 

changes in reporting by Police.

* People killed or seriously injured in road traffic accidents 1st (2018) ↑ 175 171 245 low

There was an decrease in the number of casualties from 245 in 

2018/19 to 175 in 2019/20 showing an improvement in 

performance but it has just missed its target of fewer than 171. The 

Council remains in the top quartile compared to other English 

county councils.  This data should be treated with caution due to 

changes in reporting by Police.

Notes:   Comparators are the 33 county councils & county unitaries.

24



Appendix A.  2  Environment & Waste

Great Communities - Environment & Waste
Strategic 

Plan
Description

Quartile 

position

Direction of 

Travel

End of Yr 

2019/20

Target / 

Standard

End of Yr 

2018/19
Polarity Commentary

Waste Management

* Total household waste per household (kg) 
3rd 

(2018/19)
→ 1031.1 no target 1031.6 Low

This indicator remained static in performance  and performs below 

average when compared to other English county councils, as it falls 

in the 3rd quartile.

*
% of household waste sent by local authorities across 

Leicestershire for reuse, recycling, composting etc. 

3rd 

(2018/19)
→ 45.5% 50% 45.3% High

This indicator remained stable at 45% but has missed its statutory 

50% target. Compared to other English county councils  

Leicestershire is in the third quartile (2018/19).  

* % local of municipal waste sent to landfill
4th 

(2018/19)
↑ 32.2% 30% 33.8% Low

Although there has been a small improvement in performance as a 

result of a reduction in municipal waste sent to landfill compared to 

2018/19 it has narrowly missed its 30% target.

*
Waste produced from LCC non-operational / internal sites 

(tonnes) 
- ↑ 358 <422 389 Low

Waste produced at LCC sites has fallen by 8% since last year and has 

met its target, demonstrating good performance.

* % waste recycled from LCC non-operational / internal sites - → 61.0% 61.5% 60.4% High
2019/20 remained static at 61%, which narrowly missed its 61.5% 

target. 

% of staff who say LCC is doing enough to reduce its 

environmental impact
- ↓ 89% 79.3% 91% High

There has been a slight decline in performance for this indicator 

although it has continued to meet its target.

25



Strategic 

Plan
Description

Quartile 

position

Direction of 

Travel

End of Yr 

2019/20

Target / 

Standard

End of Yr 

2018/19
Polarity Commentary

*

Reducing Carbon Emissions & Mitigating the Impact of Climate Change 
Total CO2 emissions from LCC operations (excluding schools) 
(tonnes)

- ↑ 10,540 15,123 11,106 Low
The Council’s carbon emissions have reduced this year by 5% and 

are well ahead of their target.   

Carbon emissions from LCC buildings (tonnes) - ↑ 3,639 4,079 3,790 Low

Carbon emissions from our buildings have reduced by 4% resulting 

in improved performance that is well ahead of its target. This is 

mainly due to a reduction in the carbon intensity of grid electricity, 

as well as an increase in renewable energy (both solar and biomass) 

now being used to replace fossil fuel consumption. 

CO2 emissions from LCC street lighting & traffic signs 

(tonnes)
- ↑ 2,338 6,079 2,830 Low

Carbon emissions from street lighting and traffic signals have 

reduced by a further 17%, which is partly due to the lower carbon 

conversion factor, but also as a result of energy saving measures the 

Council has introduced. There is an on-going programme of 

'trimming and dimming' across the county, including dimming down 

lights as traffic reduces, and delaying the switch-on.  These 

measures will have contributed to the reduction.   

Total Business miles claimed (‘000s of miles) - ↑ 5,560 4,767 5,835 Low
The number of ‘Total Business miles claimed’ has reduced in the last 

year but has missed its target.

Amount of renewable energy generated as a % of 

consumption
- → 15.6% 13.9% 16.0% High

The Council has seen little change in performance for this indicator 

which has met its annual target of 13.9%.  The slight decline in 

performance could be due to:

- Solar Panels will reduce in efficiency over time and their output 

may reduce; Panels also need cleaning to improve efficiency;

- The data received from the solar panels is not always complete at 

first and there can be gaps;

- If electricity consumption has gone up but renewable energy 

produced has stayed static, the renewable % will go down.

Renewable heat incentive deployment (Domestic) per 

10,000 households’
- ↑ 37.36 no target 33.81 High

This improved in performance since last year from 34 (2018/19) to 

37 (2019/20) per 10,000 households.  It is beyond the direct control 

of the Council which is why a target hasn't been set. 

* CO2 Emissions per capita (in LA influence) 3rd → 5.1   (2018) 5.2   (2018) 5.2   (2017) Low

Data is provided by the government (BEIS) and is 2 years in arrears. 

Data shown is for 2018 and 2017. This is a measure of estimated 

carbon dioxide emissions per head of population for all sectors at a 

local authority level. 

Notes:   Comparators are the 33 county councils & county unitaries.

26



Appendix B.1 Draft Transport Performance Delivery Narrative 2019/20 

Economy – Transport 

People and businesses need infrastructure that provides excellent connectivity that 
meets their every-day needs. Transport infrastructure is a key enabler providing 
access to opportunity and opening up sites for growth. We aim to ensure good 
connectivity within the county and across the UK through working closely with 
partners to realise the Midlands Connect Strategy. We also continue to progress 
delivery of our local transport priorities to help business recovery and growth, reduce 
congestion, allow safe travel and support more sustainable travel options.   

Midlands Connect – the Midlands Connect Strategy outlines the region’s vision to 
become an engine for growth through investment in transport infrastructure. It 
proposes a 25-year programme of investment in strategic road and rail 
improvements to reduce congestion, improve journey times and support housing 
growth.   We are currently involved in a number of Midland Connect projects that are 
directly related to the successful delivery of our Prospectus for Growth. These 
projects include improvements to rail services to places such as Coventry and 
Birmingham and upgrades to the A5 and A42. These projects will greatly enhance 
people’s ability to travel efficiently and safely around and through Leicestershire in 
the context of much needed houses and jobs to meet the demands of the area’s 
growing population. 

Transport for East Midlands (TfEM) – through our involvement in TfEM we have 
set out our top priorities for transport improvements across the East Midlands 
including making the most of the HS2 development, securing a Midland Mainline fit 
for the 21st century, improving access to East Midlands Airport, the A5 Improvement 
Corridor and transforming East-West connectivity.   

Strategic Transport Priorities – in February 2020 we launched consultations on a 
new 30-year transport blueprint for Leicester and Leicestershire. The Strategic 
Transport Priorities (STP) set out where the city and county will work together, 
particularly around tackling poor air quality and the effects of climate change, 
alongside continued support for the local economy and jobs and the delivery of new 
houses. Improvements in rail and public transport and better provision for walking 
and cycling schemes are among the priorities set out. The STP acknowledges a 
drive to attract greater numbers of car users on to public transport and on to cycling 
and walking routes. The ambition is to continue to encourage use of the commercial 
bus network, of electric vehicles and to increase the number of bus lanes and 
cycleways/pedestrian routes developed over the past few years.  The county will 
develop its own cycling and walking strategy as part of the list of priorities. Another 
key thread of the STP is a big push to improve rail services. The report outlines that 
while services to East Midlands cities such as Derby and Nottingham are good, 
improvements are needed in reaching West Midlands cities such as Coventry and 
Birmingham. 

Rail Strategy – developed with the City Council and LLEP it sets out rail priorities up 
to 2043. We have used it as a basis for working with Midlands Connect, who are 
developing business cases for the reinstatement of direct rail services between 
Leicester and Coventry and for the improvement of services to Birmingham, which 
would result in significant improvements in journey times to these places. We have 
used it also to inform our input into the HS2 project and the wider considerations of 
the Infrastructure Commission who have been asked by Government to consider an 

27



Appendix B.1 Draft Transport Performance Delivery Narrative 2019/20 

integrated package of rail improvements that would be associated with delivery of 
the Eastern leg. Potentially this package could include completion of the Midland 
Main Line electrification, which we are continuing to push for because of the service 
improvements that it would deliver but also because of its carbon reduction benefits. 

HS2 - will bring significant benefits to Leicestershire and the wider economy and 
radically improve connectivity to cities in the north. We are committed to playing an 
active role to ensure Leicestershire gets the most out of HS2 as well as mitigating its 
impacts. In January the Council considered work on preparations to manage the 
impact in Leicestershire of the proposed HS2 rail link. The benefits of pro-actively 
engaging with HS2 on many issues including developing opportunities for small and 
medium-sized businesses in Leicestershire to win HS2-related contracts; work with 
ecological and environmental partners to enhance the natural environment and 
minimise impacts of climate change; avoid proposed 12-month long road closures on 
key county roads, and seek adequate advance notification of disruptive work. Also, 
to seek a classic compatible connection of the Midland Mainline at the proposed 
high-speed rail station at Toton, giving more journey choices for Leicestershire 
residents and businesses. 

Ivanhoe Line - we are providing our support, including financial, to the group the 
Campaign for Reopening the Ivanhoe Line (CRIL). CRIL are currently working with 
the Department for Transport to develop a business case to bring back passenger 
services on the line.  

 

Major Road Schemes Supporting Growth 

The Council has a strong record of securing funding to deliver transport 
infrastructure to enable growth, supporting the delivery of outcomes to promote a 
strong economy and ensure a supply of quality and affordable homes. We will 
continue to lobby to secure vital funds to invest in homes, regeneration and 
infrastructure across Leicestershire.  

Coalville Transport Strategy - in June 2020 we set out work to support the delivery 
of successful growth and evolution of Coalville and Ashby de la Zouch, including a 
list of projects covered by the Coalville Transport Strategy.  

Ashby Road, Coalville - in January we unveiled proposals to improve Ashby Road 
in Coalville. The proposed scheme involves improving the street scene and creating 
on-street parking to improve traffic flow. The £250,000 scheme, jointly funded with 
North West Leicestershire District Council, is also designed to create additional on-
street parking facilities and improve vehicular and pedestrian access with the focus 
on vulnerable road users. The proposed scheme represents part of a wider initiative 
to invest in Coalville, including a revamp of Snibston Country Park.  

Coalville – A511 - in August 2019 the Council’s A511 Coalville Growth Corridor 
plans were included in a priority list for government funding by sub-national 
Transport Body Midlands Connect, with a request for £42m to deliver it. The scheme 
was among 11 in the Midlands submitted to the Department for Transport, as part of 
a £3.5 billion fund available for local road improvements from 2020-2025. The 
proposals include junction improvements at nine locations between the A42 Junction 
13 at Ashby-de-la-Zouch and the M1 Junction 22, some localised widening and a 

28



Appendix B.1 Draft Transport Performance Delivery Narrative 2019/20 

new link road, connecting the A511 to Bardon Link Road, creating a new north-south 
link across Coalville. The proposals will help cut congestion and improve bus journey 
times, as well as support the M1 and M42 as a major gateway to East Midlands 
Airport. The proposals will also include improvements to the pedestrian crossings 
and cycle-ways along the road. Public consultation on the proposals took place in 
October 2019. It was announced that the Council had been awarded almost £1.3m in 
development funding for the scheme on 30 September 2019.   

Loughborough A512 – in September 2019 work started on a £25m County Council 
road scheme involving improvements at Junction 23 of the M1 to improve overall 
journey times and road safety in the area. The scheme aims to reduce traffic on the 
A512 and some residential roads and support commercial and residential 
development in Loughborough, by increasing employment and providing new, more 
accessible development.  A stretch of the A512 between Junction 23 and Snells 
Nook Lane, Loughborough, is changing from a single to dual carriageway with a new 
roundabout for two large housing and employment sites. The scheme is being 
funded by developers, with an additional £5m from Highways England and through a 
£12m allocation from the LLEP’s Local Growth Fund. 

Melton Distributor Road – we are continuing with work to deliver this multi-million 
pound project (which is key to delivery of nearly 4000 new homes and to addressing 
the town’s existing traffic and environmental conditions), including recent publication 
of the necessary Statutory Orders for the Northern and Eastern sections. As part of 
work towards the Melton Mowbray Transport Strategy a broader package of 
measures will complement the distributor road, including possible improvements to 
walking and cycling infrastructure and the town centre highway network. The Melton 
Mowbray Distributor Road scheme took the top award in the Natural Environment 
category in October 2019 at the East Midlands Town Planning Institute.  The 
collaborative work between the county council, AECOM, Natural England and the 
Environment Agency in developing the diversion for the River Eye was particularly 
highlighted during the ceremony. The planning application included substantial 
environmental mitigation including tree and hedge planting, ecological enhancement 
areas and sustainable drainage. 

Anstey – A5630 and A46 - in September 2019 work commenced on the delivery of 
improvements involving a range of measures on the A5630 Anstey Lane and A46 to 
increase capacity and improve journey times. The scheme sees the existing single 
lane section of road between the A46 interchange and Bennion Road roundabout 
turned into a dual carriageway. Additional lanes will be created at the approach to 
the roundabouts at both junctions with new traffic lights installed. Pedestrian and 
cycling routes along the busy stretch of road will also be improved as part of the 
scheme. The improvements are designed to help accommodate extra traffic that will 
be generated by the 3,000-home Ashton Green development. It will also support 
growth anticipated from future housing developments in the north of Leicester and in 
the county.  In March it was reported that the £10.7m scheme was progressing well 
and on track for delivery, with the scheme finished on schedule in July 2020.  

Nailstone Junction – in October 2019 a £2m scheme to reduce congestion, provide 
improved transport links and manage the extra travel demand created by the new 
country park development at Nailstone commenced. The Council led on delivery of 
the scheme on behalf of the colliery developer, which saw a range of measures 
including new traffic signals, a new roundabout and traffic calming introduced at a 

29



Appendix B.1 Draft Transport Performance Delivery Narrative 2019/20 

number of junctions linking the B585 with the A511 to the north.  Improvements to 
these junctions provide access to homes and employment, and the new country park 
development site.   

Hinckley - in October 2019 consultation commenced on £5m plans to improve 
Rugby Road and Hinckley town centre.  Proposals include plans to improve both the 
Hawley Road and Brookside junctions. There are also plans to improve safety for 
pedestrian and cyclists in the Granville Road, Spa Lane/London Road and Coventry 
Road areas, introduce new traffic signals, signage, and a review of resident and 
town centre parking facilities. The £5m scheme aims to maximise the area's 
economic potential by reducing congestion and shortening journey times. It also 
aims to improve air quality by encouraging more people to walk and cycle. In March 
2020 we approved improvements to Rugby Road and Hinckley town centre. The 
scheme will support growth and the economic performance in Hinckley, improve 
journey times and air quality, better cycle facilities and reduced congestion.  

Lutterworth East - £2.4m to design highways improvements and provide access to 
proposed new housing development in Lutterworth. The programme was paused 
until further funding could be secured.  

Fosse Park Improvements – in June 2020 we launched a series of road 
improvements to support the development of Castle Acres, a large expansion of 
Fosse Park on the site of the former Everards brewery. The area is one of the 
busiest routes in Leicestershire and will only get busier as Fosse Park develops. The 
improvements will ensure Fosse Park can expand and bring economic growth to 
Leicestershire without negatively affecting congestion and journey times.  

Highways Capital Programme – in March 2020 Cabinet agreed a new highways 
capital programme and works programme. The highways and transport elements of 
the programme comprised of £267m of capital works over the four years to 2024. 
The transport asset management programme in 2020/21 has an indicative cost of 
£16.32m in 2020/21 for capital maintenance of roads and footways. Zouch bridge 
replacement construction and enabling works.  Advanced design works include the 
Melton Mowbray transport strategy, Loughborough Growth Area Strategy and 
development of a Cycling and Walking Strategy with accompanying Local Cycling 
and Walking Infrastructure Plan. 

Traffic Management and Safety 

Average Speed Cameras – there are communities across the county who feel 
speeding motorists are having a negative effect on life in their local area. In order to 
help tackle this, seven pilot sites for our average speed camera trial were switched 
on starting from September 2018. The scheme aims to provide a deterrent to prevent 
speeding. The Council has committed £500k to the 12-month trial which provides 
funding for the cameras, equipment, staffing and enforcement action by the police.  
Since the cameras have been switched on just under 10,000 people have been 
issued a ticket for speeding, up to January 2019. Evidence also shows the cameras 
have been successful in lowering speeds at these locations. In September 2018 the 
Council stepped up its campaign with HM Treasury to keep the fines collected from 
the average speed camera trial which could then be re-invested in a further roll-out 
of the cameras across the County. 

30



Appendix B.1 Draft Transport Performance Delivery Narrative 2019/20 

Reducing Rural Speeds – in March 2019 we announced that we were expanding 
our speed reduction scheme to include a further 24 rural routes. The project sees 
stretches of roads with a speed limit of 60mph reduced to 50mph.  The move follows 
a study in 2017 which found that around 60% of collisions which caused injury on 
rural routes involved motorists exceeding the 60mph limit and the routes chosen all 
had well evidenced collision reduction reasons to reduce the speed limit. The speed 
limit reductions also incorporate reviews of the existing road markings and signs to 
ensure that they provide adequate warnings of the road conditions. 

Driver Education - we have continued to offer our popular pre-driver days in 2019 
to promote safety and highlight potential risks. They include an introduction to driving 
and cover issues relating to speed, safety and also a practical driving session, 
accompanied by a qualified driving instructor.  Our older driver scheme Safer Driving 
with Age (SAGE) has also continued. The scheme encourages safe responsible 
driving by providing older drivers with a practical driving assessment in their own car 
with a qualified driving instructor. Driver education is an increasingly important part of 
speed management and driver behaviour change.  The council facilitates the running 
of national driver education workshops on behalf of Leicestershire Police. In 
2019/20, 25,880 drivers opted to attend courses as an alternative to receiving a fine 
and points on their driving licence.  The aim of the courses is to help drivers 
understand the adverse consequences of their driving behaviour and give tips and 
advice to improve compliance and improve safety. 

School Keep Clear Scheme – in September 2019 schools across Leicestershire 
were encouraged to sign-up to a scheme to combat the problems of inconsiderate 
parking. The School Keep Clear scheme aims to address concerns that parents, 
residents and teachers have about parking during the school run by using a camera 
car to enforce mandatory zig-zag zones outside school entrances. A total of 68 new 
schools became enforceable in September 2019, in time for the new school term. 
Since it launched in September 2018, the scheme has seen 146 schools sign up, 
with a further 11 schools set to join the scheme later this year, subject to 
consultations. We know that inconsiderate and dangerous parking outside schools 
can be a real problem, and the School Keep Clear scheme has gone some way to 
alleviate concerns in communities. Since the beginning of the scheme, 22 warnings 
have been issued and 241 penalties have been processed to motorists parking 
illegally. 

Parking Enforcement - with traffic levels rising, parking enforcement teams have 
ben increasing patrols to keep vehicles moving and keep the roads safe. 

Motorcyclist Safety - we remain supporters of The Shiny Side Up Partnership 
(SSUP) an East Midlands motorcycle safety partnership. Originally set up to try and 
drive down casualties relating to sports-bike riders, this has now broadened to 
include lower capacity scooters and motorcycles. The Council uses a variety of 
roadside posters at sites that have a poor motorcycle casualty history. These 
messages include Bike Crash Site Ahead and Think Bike. The roadside posters are 
bright yellow and have become a regular seasonal way of reminding riders and other 
road users to take extra care and look out for each other.  

Community Speed Watch – this scheme continues to be a popular initiative which 
encourages local communities to get involved in identifying speeding motorists; and 
thereafter encouraging them to drive at more appropriate speeds.  In 2019 there 

31



Appendix B.1 Draft Transport Performance Delivery Narrative 2019/20 

were 13 schemes and the details of more than 2,000 speeding vehicles were passed 
through to the police who, where possible, wrote to the registered keeper of the 
vehicles reminding them of the dangers associated with speed.    

32



Appendix B.1 Draft Transport Performance Delivery Narrative 2019/20 

Sustainable Travel  

Choose How You Move – in January the Choose How You Move initiative, a joint 
venture between the Council and City Council, launched a new-look website to help 
the county and city travel smarter, through more sustainable and active methods. On 
ChooseHowYouMove.co.uk walking routes, cycling maps, bus timetables, and park 
and ride information can be viewed and downloaded, as well as finding out and 
signing up to cycling courses, and active travel events. Businesses have their own 
dedicated page where they can receive help and advice to introduce active and 
sustainable travel. Teams also work alongside schools to offer fun activities and 
competitions promoting active travel. They regularly visit schools to teach cycling 
skills, road safety, and encourage pupils to keep active.  

Transforming Cities Fund and Air Quality – in October 2019 we supported 
proposals by the City Council for a bid to the Transforming Cities Fund in response 
to the Government’s Air Quality Directive.  They have been awarded over £32m, 
which will enable initiatives in Leicester to improve public transport, cycling and 
walking provision to improve overall air quality. This will benefit both city and county 
residents.  

Active Travel – in September 2019 a free, family-friendly event promoting active 
travel took place at Watermead North Country Park.  The Council’s safe and 
sustainable travel team led activities including treasure trails, and competitions.  The 
council aims to encourage and help more families take advantage of the benefits of 
active travel, including improving levels of physical activity, reducing stress, and 
helping reduce pollution levels. Getting children involved in active travel at an earlier 
age is also helping to support adults to stay healthy. In October 2019 businesses 
were urged to apply for funding of up to £5000 to help them implement active and 
sustainable travel initiatives in the workplace. The grants, which were available from 
the council and funded by the Department for Transport, aimed to help businesses 
increase levels of activity amongst their staff by promoting active and sustainable 
travel as part of everyday life. The council also leads the way in sustainable travel by 
offering staff car-sharing spaces, electric charging points, as well as an electric pool 
car and pool bikes to use to and from meetings, all of which helps the council meet 
its targets of lower carbon emissions.  

In September 2020 we reported that Travel clinics were being held across 
Leicestershire to encourage residents to cycle or walk to work or school where 
possible. The Council held three free travel advice events to help more residents 
make the change to walking, cycling and scooting for everyday journeys. Free bike 
checks and security markings were available at the events, along with electric bike 
trials and travel advice. Since lockdown there has been a huge increase in people 
cycling, and we want to support them.  

 ‘Pop Up’ Cycle Lanes – in the summer the Council started to introduce ‘pop-up’ 
cycle lanes and other measures supporting walking and cycling, fulfilling the 
requirements of the Government’s £250m Emergency Active Travel Fund imitative 
as part of the response to Covid-19 (EATF). Funded by £335,000 of EATF monies, 
the cycle lanes were part of a mix of temporary and permanent schemes aimed at 
encouraging more people to walk and cycle rather than take public transport or a 
motor vehicle. The schemes introduced over an eight-week period, include Birstall – 
a ‘pop-up’ cycle lane on the A6 Loughborough Road in both directions. Leicester 

33



Appendix B.1 Draft Transport Performance Delivery Narrative 2019/20 

Forest East – extending existing cycle lanes on the A47 Hinckley Road in both 
directions. Market Harborough – Kettering Road’s existing cycle lanes widened, and 
traffic flow improved by installing temporary traffic signals. ‘Park and Pedal’ sites – 
new facilities available at Enderby and Meynell’s Gorse park and ride sites and at 
County Hall with new facilities including secure, overnight bike shelters. The council 
is awaiting a Government decision on the award of a further £1.2m EATF monies to 
roll-out more schemes.  

E-Bike Scheme - electric bikes for loan to workplaces across the county is another 
initiative by the Council to encourage active and sustainable travel to and from work. 
The loan scheme is already proving to be a hit at fashion giants Next, with 10 bikes 
now being used by staff at their Enderby base. The bikes are available for staff to 
use to commute to work as well as for travelling to meetings or events during the 
working day. The Council is encouraging businesses to take the opportunity to 
borrow the electric bikes free of charge.   

Public Transport – the Council supports public transport in a variety of ways 
including by providing or supporting 100,000+ concessionary bus passes to help 
elderly and disabled pass holders travel free on local bus services. School transport 
is provided for 6,000+ school children, both mainstream and for those with special 
educational needs or disabilities (SEND).  Over 33,000 blue badge permits are 
provided to allow disabled residents to have preferential parking closer to their 
destination. Three park and ride bus services provide fast and frequent buses in to 
Leicester and around 30 supported local bus service contracts are provided carrying 
bus passengers where commercial operators do not operate. Over 40 demand 
responsive transport services as an alternative to buses are provided and we also 
support community transport providers across the County to provide services for 
those residents unable to use bus services or who are rurally isolated. 

On Demand Travel - in April 2019 the first use of a Section 106 planning gain 
agreement was used to finance an on-demand bus service in Leicestershire. Bus 
operator Arriva began providing the demand responsive, ride-sharing service, named 
ArrivaClick at the New Lubbesthorpe development.  Passengers book journeys using 
an app showing their preferred pick up point and destination and are matched with 
others and provided a seat on a 15-seater minibus. 

Passenger Transport Changes – since the adoption of its Passenger Transport 
Policy and Strategy in October 2018 the Council has been progressing a 
comprehensive review of all of its contracted bus services to make savings of around 
£400k per year.   Proposed changes to bus services follows careful assessment of 
current bus usage in a bid to deliver value-for-money services.  In addition, 
communities were invited to help find solutions to local transport issues that may 
either complement, improve or replace the council’s transport offer.  Good progress 
has been made on the review with changes made to over 50% of the services to 
improve efficiency, provide better value for money and ensure access to essential 
services. The next phase of service reviews was due to commence, however, 
following the COVID-19 outbreak and significant impact on passenger numbers and 
provision, it has been decided to pause work on the reviews until Summer 2021. 

Covid-19 School Bus Support - in September 2020 we announced extra funding to 
provide extra school buses across the county to help youngsters to socially distance 
on their journeys. Where students use ordinary public bus services to get to school 

34



Appendix B.1 Draft Transport Performance Delivery Narrative 2019/20 

extra services were provided at the beginning and end of the school day so that 
demand can be met while still ensuring enough space for social distancing. 
Precautions are also being taken on the services run just for children by the Council 
and schools themselves. All public buses running in Leicester and Leicestershire 
have social distancing measures in place, with limited seating available. 

Highways Maintenance and Management  

The County Council faces significant challenges in looking after its highways’ assets. 
Present levels of government funding are insufficient to maintain even 
Leicestershire’s A roads in their current condition.   

Highways Maintenance - a total of £14.9m was invested in highways asset 
maintenance including £12.5m on carriageways, £0.6m on footways and rights of 
way, £0.6m on bridge maintenance and strengthening, £0.4m on flood alleviation, 
£0.2m on traffic signal renewal and £0.6m on other activity.  In July 2020 we 
announced that a £5m government funding boost would see major maintenance 
carried out on three key routes in the county in late autumn 2020. The cash injection 
through the local highways maintenance challenge fund was awarded to go towards 
improving the state of roads and support Covid-19 recovery efforts. Resurfacing 
work will be carried out on the A6 Market Harborough bypass on the Leicestershire 
and Northamptonshire sections; the A426 Blaby Bypass – including the four 
roundabouts; and the A47 Hinckley in two locations - the Dodwells Road section 
between the A5 and the Triumph roundabout and the Normandy Way roundabout 
with Wykin Road. Footway and cycle track improvement work will also take 
place. The Council also continued with vital road maintenance works across its 2,789 
miles of road to take advantage of the reduced traffic levels during the Coronavirus 
lockdown and ensure minimum disruption. All our highways teams observed Public 
Health England guidelines on social distancing, hand sanitising and safe working 
guidelines where possible.  

Flood and Storm Response – in September 2019, crews were called out to more 
than 88 reports of flooding across Leicestershire and we dealt with 250 calls across 
highways, police and fire. Our crews were out distributing sandbags, clearing gullies 
and closing flooded roads following a period of heavy rain. Police and fire crews 
attended badly affected areas. Areas particularly affected included Stoney Stanton, 
Earl Shilton, Loughborough, Sileby, Mountsorrel, Barrow-on-Soar, as well as 
Hugglescote and Worthington. Extra staff were called in overnight to deal with 
flooding issues. In February 2020 the Council’s highways teams again worked round 
the clock in response to the effects of both Storm Ciara and Storm Dennis.  Extra 
gangs had already been drafted in ahead of the storms to support the clearing-up 
efforts – with five teams dealing with forestry work while highways and street-lighting 
teams also supported the response.  

As a result of storm Ciara, highways responded to 170 call outs, mainly for fallen 
trees and branches. Storm Dennis saw heavy rainfall and high winds with a total of 
82 call outs. The Highways Control Room remained open throughout the weekend, 
with 13 gangs responding to 124 incidents. Increased rainfall resulted in 65 
residential properties and 9 commercial properties flooded. 33 roads were closed 
due to floodwater. In order to address the impact of severe weather events an 
additional £550k was allocated to the highways budget for the coming year. 
Government has included in its manifesto £4bn for a new flood defence programme 

35



Appendix B.1 Draft Transport Performance Delivery Narrative 2019/20 

over five years and we continue to press the government to maximise funding to help 
us address the substantial flood related issues across the county. 

Winter Gritting – during the winter our gritters and drivers were out treating key 
routes to keep the county moving, spreading approximately 312 tonnes of rock salt 
across 3900 miles of road to combat the drop-in temperature. Keeping the county 
moving and motorists safe is our top priority each winter. Our gritting crews are on 
standby 24 hours a day, seven days a week – including Christmas and New Year – 
and ready to respond to the forecasts. We monitor the weather constantly and if 
freezing temperatures are forecast, our fleet of gritters go out at night to treat major 
roads and key routes which equates to almost half of the county's road network.  The 
Council has a fleet of 23 gritters available, three of which were recently replaced with 
new state of the art vehicles. The other twenty vehicles have also been fitted with the 
latest sat-nav technology, to ensure all routes are gritted correctly. This year, the 
council’s grit barns were stocked up with 18,000 tonnes of rock salt.  

Snow Wardens - in addition to winter gritting, there are also a number of snow 
wardens based in communities across the county who grit paths, as well as farmers 
who during deep snow, fit ploughs to their tractors and assist the council in clearing 
roads. The authority is working with parish and town councils to train and encourage 
more people to sign-up to its Snow Warden Scheme to help keep the county moving 
during the winter. The council also has a team of carers and health visitors who can 
reach their patients if there is prolonged heavy snowfall.  

Grass Cutting - the grass-cutting season commenced in April 2020 with the 
council’s teams mowing the equivalent of 532 football pitches each month. The 
authority maintains nearly 3.8million square metres of urban grass in residential 
areas. Residents who want to find out when verges are scheduled to be cut in their 
area can use the council’s interactive grass-cutting map. Work is also ongoing with 
communities around areas to be maintained as wildlife verges rather than being cut.   

Gully Cleaning - to tackle blocked drains we are applying a new ‘risk-based’ 
approach to gully cleaning that includes increasing the number of roadside drains 
treated from 64,000 per year to 92,000 without costs rising. The change follows a 
seven-month trial to find a more cost effective and focused way of cleaning the 
county’s 130,000 gullies. The trial found that it would be beneficial for more regular 
visits to roads at high risk of flooding due to the drains filling faster with silt. 
Previously drains were cleaned on an 18 to 24-month fixed programme, whether the 
road was at risk of flooding or not. The changes are part of our new highways asset 
management plan and were rolled out across the county from early 2019.  

Parish and Communities Fund – our Highway’s Parish and Community Fund was a 

one-off grant scheme made available to parishes and communities to help support 

them on issues with social distancing and active travel due to the Covid-19 

pandemic.  As part of this fund we gave parishes and communities the opportunity to 

apply for a grant of between £2,000 to £10,000 dependent on population, which they 

could use on variety of projects, specifically relating to areas that supported village 

recovery including the installation of temporary road closures; temporary speed 

restrictions in urban areas; the creation of pop cycle lanes; additional signage; and 

the removal of overgrown vegetation, that would not normally meet our criteria for 

36



Appendix B.1 Draft Transport Performance Delivery Narrative 2019/20 

maintenance. As of the end of September over 90 parishes and communities had 

applied to take advantage of this fund. 

  

37



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B.2 Draft Environment and Waste Performance Delivery Narrative 2019/20 
 

Great Communities – Environment and Waste 

Our aim is to ensure that we protect our environment by minimising our 
environmental impact as a council, tackling climate change and embedding 
environmental sustainability into what we do. We also aim to enhance the 
environment across the county and improve the quality of life of residents.  In May 
2019 the Council declared a climate emergency and made commitments to achieve 
carbon neutrality for its own operations by 2030. We also committed to work with 
others and lobby government to achieve carbon neutrality for Leicestershire by 2050 
or before. We want to lead the way in creating a clean and green future which will 
bring economic, social and environmental benefits. A new Environment Strategy was 
approved in July 2020 reflecting our new commitments.   

Net Zero Carbon - in September 2019 the Council agreed to invest £450,000 of 
funding to develop plans on how to meet our Climate Emergency commitments. A 
good start has been made by switching to a green electricity tariff, launching a major 
tree planting programme and working with developers and others to build ‘green’ 
new homes. We’ve already seen real change and initiatives such as LED streetlights 
and solar panels have enabled us to cut our wider greenhouse gas emissions by 
64% to the end of 2018/19 compared to 2008.  Signing the UK100 pledge and our 
membership of the Countryside Climate Network to demonstrate the valuable 
contribution from rural counties also underlines our commitment to clean energy.  A 
new investment of £16m and a long list of projects signals the Council’s 
determination to tackle climate change. Plans include a 10MW solar farm aiming to 
create a carbon-neutral industrial estate and replacing some diesel vehicles with low 
carbon alternatives.   

Green Energy and Energy Efficiency - we have switched to a green electricity 
tariff, so all our electricity is now coming from renewable sources. We have installed 
electric vehicle (EV) charging points at Council sites which are available for council 
vehicles, staff and visitors to use. We are also expanding the network of EV chargers 
at council sites to support the growth of council and privately-owned ‘plug-in’ electric 
vehicles. £300k was invested in upgraded lighting, boilers and heating controls at 
County Council premises last year. The Property Energy Team continues to find 
ways to reduce the Council’s energy consumption and carbon emissions. There are 
projects in the pipeline to double the amount of solar PV at County Hall and to 
upgrade lighting to LED at County Hall. The Council has now produced a Zero 
Carbon Policy for construction projects which includes enhanced building 
specifications aimed at increasing energy efficiency and working towards the 
Council’s 2030 Net Zero Carbon target. Energy is now incorporated into all 
construction projects and as a result many projects have had additional energy 
measures delivered including solar PV, heat pumps and EV chargers. The Energy 
Team continue to work to deliver low carbon upgrades to all building projects and to 
embed energy into property processes.  

New Solar Farm – in November 2019 we published further details of ambitious 
plans to develop a solar farm and one of the first carbon neutral industrial sites in the 
country. The solar farm based on Barrow Road, Quorn, would generate almost 10 
megawatts of electricity a year. As part of the plans, the authority is also looking to 
build a carbon neutral industrial site. The development could include solar roof 
panels, LED lighting, rainwater harvesting and electric vehicle charging. The 

39



Appendix B.2 Draft Environment and Waste Performance Delivery Narrative 2019/20 
 

development would produce clean, green energy, while building new units would 
offer local businesses the chance to get their foot on the ladder or expand. The 
returns would also generate more than £800k a year, which will benefit services from 
social care to highway maintenance. Plans for the scheme were formally lodged to 
the Planning Committee in May 2020. The planned zero-carbon industrial site would 
be only the second carbon neutral industrial site in the UK.  

SHIRE Environment Grants – in November 2019 the Council launched a new 
'SHIRE Environment Grant' scheme to help community groups and organisations 
fund innovative projects to improve their local environment. The scheme is focused 
toward projects that help reduce the amount of household waste and greenhouse 
gas emissions produced, improve biodiversity or support the creation and protection 
of sustainable green spaces in Leicestershire. Community groups and organisations 
can apply for grants of up to £3k.  Projects that have been funded include planting 
new, wildlife-friendly hedgerows; the creation of a ‘green gym’ to create a food 
growing space based on permaculture principles; improving the mix of species of 
plants on four roadside verges; and a community composting facility. A second 
round of funding was launched in July 2020.   

Vision for Country Parks – in October 2019 the Council announced its ten-year 
vision for Leicestershire country parks. Over the next ten years we aim to enhance 
visitor facilities, support more people to get physically active, engage more with 
communities and community groups, grow volunteering and reduce carbon. We are 
committed to maintaining and developing our green spaces, which are vital in 
tackling the climate emergency, improving health and boosting wellbeing. As part of 
the new strategy, six destination parks, at Beacon Hill, Broombriggs Farm, Bosworth 
Battlefield, Market Bosworth, Watermead and Snibston, will have dedicated five-year 
action plans to help deliver the ambitious goals. 

Ashby Canal - in September 2019 proposals to transfer part of the Ashby Canal 
route between Snarestone and Measham to a local charity moved a step nearer.  
We approved the submission of an application to the Secretary of State for consent 
to transfer part of the Order to the Ashby Canal Association (ACA), following a 
consultation which showed widespread support for the proposal. Since 1994 the 
council has led restoration work on the stretch of canal, with a 500-metre section 
from Snarestone to the new bridge 62 completed in 2015. However due to limited 
third-party funding and our own resource constraints the council hopes to transfer 
the ownership so further restoration of the canal can be progressed. 

Tree Management Strategy - in March 2020 the Council agreed a new Tree 
Management Strategy which will see more trees planted and a greater emphasis on 
recognising their importance in promoting Leicestershire as an attractive place to live 
and work. The strategy sets out plans to ensure the long-term conservation, 
sustainability and development of the precious tree stock for the people of the county 
and future generations. Trees are an essential resource which provide a wide range 
of environmental, economic and social benefits, and our focus is to continue to build 
upon our ever-growing green infrastructure. The Council is responsible for managing 
approximately 82,000 individual tree specimens and over 400 hectares of woodland 
on its land holdings. The Council is also working in partnership with the National 
Forest Company to produce an overview document outlining a countywide approach 
to tackling climate change and creating a sustainable place through more tree 
planting.  

40



Appendix B.2 Draft Environment and Waste Performance Delivery Narrative 2019/20 
 

Tree and Hedge Planting – in October 2019 and in a bid to increase the number of 
trees across Leicestershire, the council again teamed up with the Woodland Trust to 
offer local landowners and farmers free tree packs.  Designed to help renew and 
restore existing woodland and vegetation, the packs aim to help regenerate 
countryside that is under threat from diseases such as Ash Dieback. Each pack 
includes 45 native trees, and applicants can choose between two different packs. 
Trees and hedges have an important role to play in keeping our air clean, helping to 
prevent flooding and providing valuable habitats for local wildlife. 

Biodiversity - nature recovery and climate change are at the forefront of the 
Environment Strategy. In May 2020 Leicestershire residents were urged to stay on 
the look-out for local wildlife as part of World Biodiversity Day. Recording what they 
saw on their daily walks using NatureSpot, a website that helps maintain up-to-date 
county wildlife records. Several other projects aimed at strengthening biodiversity 
across Leicestershire include the Charnwood Forest Landscape Partnership 
securing £2.7m of investment from the National Lottery to promote, protect and 
enhance the Charnwood Forest landscape through a programme of eighteen 
interconnected projects.  

Urban Roadside Verges - we have been working with parish councils to give them 
the opportunity to turn urban roadside verges into dedicated wildflower verges. The 
Urban Wildlife Verge Project aims to improve biodiversity and encourage wildlife. A 
total of twelve parish councils signed-up to take part in the project, which will involve 
volunteers giving up their time to make a difference in their community by weeding, 
planting seeds and developing more effective management practices to encourage 
wildflowers at identified locations in the county. The Council have also changed the 
management of rural verges between towns and villages. This year marked the 
largest reduction in the areas of rural verges the council has cut, all to allow 
wildflowers to thrive and encourage pollinators. 

Great Crested Newts – in May 2020 we announced that work had begun to restore 
ponds and provide habitats for endangered Great Crested Newts in Leicestershire. 
Great Crested Newts, one of the UK's three native newt species, have seen huge 
decline in their populations over the last 60 years, despite being heavily protected by 
law. This is largely down to the loss of their natural habitat. The project aims to make 
existing ponds more attractive to the Great Crested Newt and introduce new ponds, 
expanding the habitat range of the species. Brabazon Farm in Mowsley and a 
Kibworth Schools Trust site were identified by Natural England as being areas that 
could help improve the numbers of and habitat for the species. Further sites located 
in Leicestershire’s country parks are planned for future habitats.  

41



Appendix B.2 Draft Environment and Waste Performance Delivery Narrative 2019/20 
 

Waste Management 

Resources and Waste Strategy – the National Resources and Waste Strategy was 
released in December 2018 and sets out how the Government will preserve material 
resources by minimising waste, promoting resource efficiency and moving towards a 
circular economy. During May 2019, we responded to several government 
consultations including consistency in household and business recycling collections 
in England, a Deposit Return Scheme and Extended Producer Responsibility for 
packaging.  

Environment Bill - we are also engaging with Defra on the Environment Bill which 
introduces a series of measures that will fundamentally change the way government, 
businesses and individuals produce and consume products including new legal 
powers allowing resource efficiency standards to be set for new products and clear 
labelling enabling citizens to make fully informed purchasing decisions. 

Waste Education - in January 2020, we provided theatre sessions to schools with 
the aim of inspiring the next generation of recyclers to think about reducing, reusing 
and recycling and to encourage more sustainable behaviours. We offered 50 two-
hour sessions to all primary schools in Leicestershire who received an interactive 
and fun workshop. We also offer free educational workshops, activities and talks to 
community groups in Leicestershire. 

Composting – each year Leicestershire residents produce more than 300,000 
tonnes of rubbish and recyclables, some of which is uncooked fruit, vegetables and 
garden waste which could have been composted rather than put in the residual 
waste bin. To help we continue to offer cut-price compost bins to reduce the amount 
of waste sent to landfill. During 2019/2020 we sold over 900 subsidised bins to 
Leicestershire residents. Residents can also call on the support of a Master 
Composter, volunteers who use their own skills to raise awareness of the benefits of 
home composting.   

Food Waste Prevention – we continue to promote the Love Food Hate Waste 
campaign in association with WRAP (Waste Resources and Action Programme) and 
its national campaigns, including the ‘Keep crushing it’ campaign which highlighted 
the importance of not wasting food. During the national lockdown due to Covid-19, 
household food waste in the UK reduced dramatically and the campaign aimed to 
help citizens to Keep Crushing It and reduce food waste for good.  

Recycling – in September 2019 the council teamed up with Recycle Now as part of 
Recycle Week and lit up its headquarters and shared recycling tips to encourage 
residents to think about what they throw away and how to recycle right. Just under 
half of all household waste in Leicestershire is currently recycled or composted, 
however items such as used nappies and food waste are still being disposed of 
incorrectly in recycling bins across the county, which can spoil recycling. The council 
wants to inspire residents to make small changes, like rinsing jars, tubs and 
containers before recycling, or reusing plastic tubs for storage before recycling them, 
in order to have a big impact on our environment. These messages were 
accompanied with a video highlighting the recycling process and the problems 
associated with contamination. During August 2020 we took part in some research to 
understand why people contaminate their recycling and we will utilise the findings to 
inform our messages. 

42



Appendix B.2 Draft Environment and Waste Performance Delivery Narrative 2019/20 
 

 

Real Nappies – the average child can need 5,000 to 6,000 nappy changes before 
potty training is complete.  We offer a free reusable nappy trial kit to Leicestershire 
residents to reduce the amount of disposal nappies which make up approximately 
6% of the household waste bin. The kit contains a variety of different nappies along 
with wraps and liners and allows the opportunity to see which nappies suit best over 
a period of four weeks. During 2019 we distributed over 60 nappy lending kits to 
Leicestershire residents. 

Environment Action Volunteers - during 2019 we consolidated our separate 
volunteer schemes under one brand, called Environment Action Volunteers. We 
offered modular training and continued ongoing development opportunities. The 
Environment Action Volunteers can specialise in a variety of topics such as food 
waste prevention, composting, biodiversity and carbon reduction and help 
Leicestershire residents establish positive environmental behaviours.  

Due to the coronavirus pandemic our engagement activities have been suspended 
with more digital events and engagement opportunities being developed and 
delivered in order to inform and engage on waste prevention, reuse and recycling 
and home composting. 

Recycling and Household Waste Sites – the Council provides 14 sites across the 
county.  A programme of works at the Recycling and Household Waste Sites 
(RHWS) and Waste Transfer Stations (WTSs) has continued to ensure ongoing 
environmental compliance and efficient service provision. This includes 
improvements and a range of preparatory work for future projects.  In November 
2019 our Shepshed RHWS reopened on schedule following essential maintenance 
and improvement works. We have also been focusing on raising standards and 
reducing risk; we have commenced the development of a Quality Management 
System and Occupational Health and Safety Management System. 

Waste Treatment - the Council continues to make efforts to reduce reliance on 
landfill and increase the use of treatment through existing arrangements.  We have 
also commenced the procurement of additional waste treatment capacity.  This will 
ensure the Council’s reliance on landfill as a disposal method for residual waste 
continues to reduce and we will be able to meet targets set in the National 
Resources and Waste Strategy. 

Waste Transfer Station – in October 2019 we agreed to use part of the land at 
Interlink Business Park, Bardon for a waste transfer station.  The planning 
application for the waste transfer station was submitted in August 2020; we expect 
the application to be considered by the Development Control and Regulatory Board 
by the end of 2020.  The new waste transfer station will significantly improve our 
service resilience and support future service changes likely to arise out of the 
National Resources and Waste Strategy. 

 

43



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE – 5th NOVEMBER 2020 

 
HIGHWAY CAPITAL PROGRAMME – 2020/21 UPDATE 

 
REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT 

 
Purpose of Report 
 

1. The purpose of this report is to provide an update to the Environment and Transport 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee on the impacts of Covid-19 on the highway capital 
programme and the allocation of additional central government funding for highway 
maintenance. 

  
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 

 
2. The Medium Term Financial Strategy for 2020/21 to 2023/24 was approved by the 

County Council on 19th February 2020. Over the autumn and winter of 2020, the 
MTFS will be reviewed and updated. 
 

3. A report was considered by Cabinet on 18th September 2020 which provided an 
update on the 2020/21 revenue budget and capital programme monitoring position as 
at the end of period 4 (the end of July), and approved changes to the previously 
agreed 2020-24 capital programme and the approach to update the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy (MTFS) for 2021 to 2025 – see Appendix A for comparison. 

 
Background 

 
4. The Cabinet considered reports regarding the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic at its 

meetings in March, April, May and June and among other issues have noted the 
significant financial impact that Covid-19 is having on the Council’s finances which 
was further noted by Full Council on 8th July 2020. 
 

5. The Committee was briefed on the impact of the pandemic on the services provided 
by the Environment and Transport Department and the subsequent response at the 
meeting of 4th June 2020, with a further update on 3rd September 2020. 
 

6. Regular briefings on the continued impact of Covid-19 on Environment and Transport 
services and subsequent recovery plans have been given for all members, providing 
the opportunity for issues to be raised and guidance sought where required. 
 

7. A review of the Capital Programme has taken place as a result of Covid-19 impacts 
and this has been reflected in changes to the MTFS as recently approved by 
Cabinet. 
 

45 Agenda Item 9



 

8. As part of the recovery process after the national lockdown in March 2020, the 
government has awarded additional highway maintenance funding under the 
Transport Infrastructure Investment Funding which includes Pothole funding (initially 
announced in governments budget in February 2020) and Highway Challenge 
Funding. 
 

Major Highway Schemes 
 
9. At the start of national lockdown, it was necessary to review the ability of the 

department to continue delivery of major highway schemes in the capital programme, 
taking into account national restrictions on social distancing and reductions in 
resources due to the prioritisation of key services. Wherever possible projects 
continued to be delivered, however there have been some impacts on delivery 
programmes. The current status of the relevant projects is outlined below. 

 
Anstey Lane/A46 – improving highways capacity through dualling and roundabout 
upgrades. 
 
10. This scheme is now complete and has entered the 12-month maintenance/snagging 

period. The benefits of the scheme are being monitored to feed into scheme 
evaluation and longer-term reporting to the Leicester and Leicestershire Enterprise 
Partnership. Current scheme forecasts indicate completion to be on budget despite 
adjusted working methods to accommodate social distancing guidelines. 

 
M1 Junction 23/A512 Improvements – creating access to development and improving 
capacity through a series of junction improvements and dualling along the A512 between 
Shepshed to Snells Nook Lane, Loughborough including Junction 23 of the M1. 
 
11. This scheme is continuing with all aspects of the on-site works now being delivered 

using revised Covid-19 safe methods with completion expected in May 2021. There 
have been some additional costs as a result of the lockdown which currently total 
£150,000, with a risk allocation in case of further impacts. Scheme completion 
remains on track for spring 2021. 

 
A511/A50 Major Road Network – improving capacity through junction improvements along 
the A511 corridor between the A42 and the M1 and Junction 22 and a new road link to 
development to the south east of Coalville. 
 
12. Following submission of the Outline Business Case in December 2019, discussion 

and feedback continues with the Department for Transport to refine the business 
case as needed, to reflect Covid-19 impacts. The design of the scheme is continuing 
but the programme has been extended due to issues in completing the topographical 
surveys. Initially during lockdown, it was not possible to carry out the surveys on 
private land, and since being able to get out on site there have also been some 
issues with equipment being stolen.   
 

13. The planning application needed for the scheme is now planned for submission in 
July 2021. The Department for Transport have yet to confirm the outcome of the 
funding bid for the scheme, however if successful the scheme will be delivered by 
2025. 

 

46



 

Melton Mowbray Distributor Road – North and East Sections– improve network capacity 
and facilitate development via a new distributor road from theA606 Nottingham Road to 
the north joining A606 Burton Road. 
 

14. This scheme has continued with little impact from Covid-19 restrictions and Statutory 
Order consultation has started. County Council officers have worked closely with Aecom 
and Galliford Try to keep the scheme progressing and liaison continues with landowners 
and Network Rail remotely. It is currently anticipated that some early accommodation 
works will start in 2021 with completion of the road by 2023/24. 

 
15. Melton Distributor Road – Southern Section – to facilitate development through a 

section of distributor road between the A606 Burton Road and the A607 Leicester Road. 
 

This scheme would see a new road around the south of Melton opening up land for 
housing development. Following a successful bid to the Housing Infrastructure Fund 
there is potential for approximately £15million grant funding to support delivery of the 
scheme, with the remaining £13million required for the scheme to be paid for from 
future developments, forward funded by Leicestershire County Council. The risks to the 
County Council associated with delivery of the scheme are not resolved.   

 
Lutterworth Development - Infrastructure – delivery of the strategic highway infrastructure 
for the proposed development at Lutterworth East.  Please note that this scheme is subject 
to a future grant bid.  
 

16. Design of highway infrastructure continues to support the delivery of the Lutterworth East 
development following approval of the planning application by Harborough District 
Council’s Planning Committee in July 2020.  

 
Coalville Ashby Road – Highway Works – rationalise speed reduction scheme linked to the 
Snibston development  
 

17. The Ashby Road scheme is funded by North West Leicestershire District Council and the 
County Council to support the Snibston regeneration project. The scheme was paused 
during the summer when it was necessary to prioritise highway delivery resource on 
safety critical services. The scheme is now continuing and due to be on site in spring 
2021. 

 
Zouch Bridge Replacement – replacement of deteriorating historic bridge 
 

18. The development of the scheme has continued through the summer but due to the 
current financial position, given the scheme is internally funded, the County Council are 
reviewing the most cost-effective way of delivering the new bridge alongside looking for 
alternative external funding sources. 

 
Hinckley Hub (Rugby Road/Westfield Road/Hawley Road and Rugby Road/Brookside 
junctions) – junction capacity improvements with new crossing facilities  
 

19. Development of the scheme continued through the lockdown, but onsite works were 
delayed due to the proximity of the main junction scheme to Hinckley town centre and 
the need to accommodate social distancing.  
 

20. Land acquisition has reached the final transfer stages and trial holes are being 
programmed by the contractor Eurovia. The main junction works are now programmed to 

47



 

start in spring 2021 with a public consultation on the implementation of residents parking 
currently ongoing. The Department for Transport have confirmed that the National 
Productivity Investment Fund (NPIF) can be allocated for use in financial year 2021/22 to 
complete the scheme. 

 
Desford Crossroads – conversion of a signal junction on the A47 between Leicester and 
Hinckley to a roundabout, increasing capacity supporting development in the area. 
 

21. Work is continuing to progress the necessary financial agreements with the Leicester 
and Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership but there remains a funding gap. The County 
Council has sought to address this through a bid submission to the Department for 
Transport Pinch Point fund however, award of this fund is currently on hold. Design of 
the scheme is continuing with topographical surveys to be undertaken in accordance 
with social distancing restrictions. This work will support funding bids and discussions 
with developers through the planning process but to ensure best value, the project is 
being regularly reviewed to consider spend against current budget. 

 
Castle Acres s106 works – upgraded signals near Fosse Park to support development. 
 

22. This scheme is now substantially complete with just some off-highway works to support 
the developer still to be delivered. The scheme was able to take advantage of lower 
traffic levels during lockdown to deliver improvements using lane closures during the 
day, rather than night works. 

 
Capital Maintenance Programme 
 

23. Whilst there was a pause in the delivery of the capital maintenance programme at the 
start of lockdown, national guidance quickly clarified that highway works were considered 
essential and should continue where possible in accordance with social distancing 
guidelines. 
 

24. Working methods were reviewed and discussions took place with external contractors to 
establish which programmes could continue. Following this review all programmes were 
continued and are on track with the exception of surface dressing where funding has 
been reallocated to alternative restorative treatments such as patching. 
 

25. The surface dressing programme was cancelled for 2020/21 due to lower traffic levels 
impacting the embedding of grit on rural roads and the inability to maintain social 
distancing particularly in urban areas with the public working from home. 

 
Additional Department for Transport funding 
 

26. The Department for Transport has released a £1.7billion Transport Infrastructure 
Investment Fund (the ‘Pothole’ fund) to improve roads, repair bridges and fill in millions 
of potholes across England. The investment is intended to help put the nation back on 
the path to recovery. 
 

27. The Transport Infrastructure Investment Fund combines funding from the Highways 
Maintenance Challenge Fund, the existing Pothole Action Fund and the £500million a 
year pledged in Government’s Budget 2020 to repair potholes and maintain local roads. 
Leicestershire’s allocation from this fund is £10.2million (a £700k Pothole Action Fund 
was already expected and allocated in 2020/21) leaving an additional £9.5million to 

48



 

allocate for 2020/21.   
 

28. The purpose of the funding is to repair potholes or to allow for longer term road 
resurfacing work to prevent the potholes from forming in the first place. However, the 
funding is not ring-fenced and can be used to fund Challenge Fund schemes. The 
Department for Transport also advised that as part of a future spending review they may 
look again at some of the Challenge Fund proposals. An Expression of Interest was 
submitted to the Challenge Fund in 2019 for Zouch Bridge and an update on the scheme 
funding issues and risks is included as part of this report. 
 

29. It is hoped that the additional funding of £9.5million made available by the Department 
for Transport this year, is just the first Tranche of the extra £2.5billion for local road 
maintenance pledged in the Budget. It was announced that councils will receive an extra 
£500million a year from 2020/21 to 2024/25 through the new Transport Infrastructure 
Investment Fund. Having confirmed funding over a five-year period will allow 
maintenance to be programmed more efficiently and allow the County Council to start to 
address the current network deterioration rates. 
 

30. The additional funding is being used to deliver an enhanced programme of maintenance 
across the network in 2020/21 benefiting more than 250,000 users on a daily basis. 
Allocation of the additional funding is based on the risk in line with the County Council’s 
risk-based approach. 

 
Allocating funding based on risk 

 
31. Under the Council’s adopted Risk Based Approach the likelihood of injury or damage as 

a result of any highway asset defect, and the wider consequences of that event should it 
occur, are assessed. Decisions on priority and treatments are informed by data and 
knowledge derived from the analysis of previous maintenance activities, such as 
highway safety inspections and surveys.  
 

32. Between 2009/10 and 2019/20 the combined revenue and capital spend, taking into 
account inflation, reduced from £32million to £22million, leaving at least a £10million gap 
in the annual funding needed to keep the Council’s network maintained. This year on 
year reduction in maintenance had led to deteriorating asset condition and some assets 
are reaching the end of their serviceable life e.g. some rural roads and street lights. 
Whilst additional one-off funding in 2020/21, as mentioned in paragraph 38, has helped 
to mitigate the funding gap for one year there is no certainty over this funding level 
continuing. Spend is now skewed towards repair rather than prevention which is less 
efficient. Deterioration is not being addressed and reactive repair will soon cost more 
than allocated budgets. 

 
Carriageway deterioration 
 

33. The predicted carriage deterioration graphs below were prepared in autumn 2019 and 
officers advised that the network was likely to deteriorate further / quicker without 
additional funding. Footways have similar deterioration issues to carriageways and 
unclassified roads (those between villages and outside people’s homes) deteriorate 
most. 
 
 
 
 

49



 

 
 
Predicted Deterioration Graphs 2014-2033 – prepared Autumn 2019 
 

 

 
 
 

34. When assessed in 2019 the graphs showed that 11.6% of Principal Roads, 13.8% of B 
roads and 13.1% of C roads were reported as currently in need of maintenance, leading 
to more potholes and uneven surfaces for drivers and cyclists with the roads also more 
susceptible to damage from climate change. 
 

35. The deterioration is likely to be increased in some areas by the extreme heat and floods 
experienced over the last few years and these extreme weather events are predicted to 
become more common. Without increased investment to slow/reverse the deterioration 
and increase the resilience to climate change, the funding needed to carry out the 
repairs to keep the network safe will continue to rise. 
 

36. Similarly, the percentage of footpaths needing maintenance had increased from 7% to 
21% in the four years since 2015. No programme of footway maintenance works, only 
safety critical repairs had been carried for the last two years so a £400,000 programme 
of footway works was proposed in 2020/21 however more funding is needed to manage 
the backlog. 
 

37. When assessing the need for funding, in addition to condition data, risks are also taken 
into account and in 2020/21 these included; 

 

50



 

a. 108 schemes in the major maintenance backlog (cost to deliver estimated at 
£19.5million up from £16million last year) that have already failed in places with 
temporary repairs being undertaken to try to keep the roads in a safe condition. 
Revenue costs to repair the defects not addressed by capital spend would 
increase (overspend in 2019/20 circa £350,000). At the end of period 2 this year, 
the spend on pothole repairs was already 10% over the profiled spend. 

b. £12million backlog in patching, covering approximately 350,000sqm of 
carriageway. £4million of this is considered to be a high priority due to the risk of 
potholes forming but it with limited resources this increases each year. 

c. Zouch Bridge scheme would only progress with external funding and additional 
costs for inspections (£1,200 per month), one-off surveys (up to £120,000) and 
potentially diversions (£14,000 per month) would be incurred 
 

38. Sharing the additional funding between highway maintenance and Zouch Bridge to 
manage the risks for both aspects of the capital programme was determined to be the 
option that best managed the assessed risks and the funding was allocated as shown in 
the table below. 

 
Allocation of the additional 2020/21 Capital Maintenance Funding 
 

ACTIVITY PLANNED 
ALLOCATION 

Additional Highway Maintenance Programme 
 Carriageway Resurfacing Schemes 

 
2.5 

 Carriageway Patching Works 2.0 
 Road Linings and Road Studs Works 0.5 
 Programme of ‘stuck lid’ repairs 0.2 
 Programme of drainage remedials 0.3 
 Funding to compliment developer Section 278 0.3 
 
Zouch Bridge Scheme 

 
3.0 

Match funding to Challenge Fund Bid 0.7 
 
TOTAL 

 
9.5m 

 
 

Development of the Additional Funding Allocation Programme 
 
Highway Maintenance Carriageway Resurfacing Schemes - £2.5million 

 

39. The amount of funding available for carriageway resurfacing and strengthening has 
declined dramatically over the last decade. Ten years ago, the allocation for carriageway 
maintenance schemes was £7million and in 2020/21 the original allocation was only 
£1.15million for this work. The constant underfunding for carriageway maintenance over 
the past decade has significantly increased the backlog of resurfacing and strengthening 
work required across Leicestershire. 
 

40. Each year all carriageway maintenance schemes are prioritised to ensure that when 
works are carried out, they are undertaken on our highest priority sites. The sites 
detailed in this proposal have all been classed as high priority sites. If the maintenance 
schemes are not carried out in the current financial year, then substantial amounts of 
temporary repairs will be required to try to keep the roads safe until the maintenance 
scheme is undertaken. 
 

51



 

41. Each year the Asphalt Industry Alliance carries out an Annual Local Authority Road 
Maintenance Survey. One of the tables within the 2020 survey shows the frequency that 
various classes of road are resurfaced at. The following table provides the frequency for 
English Roads compared with roads in Leicestershire: 
 

 All Roads Principal Non-Principal Unclassified 

England 76 years 33 years 55 years 119 years 

Leicestershire 161 years 68 years 152 years 223 years 

   

42. From the above table it is evident that Leicestershire roads are resurfaced far less 
frequently than the average road in England. Road surfaces are typically designed to last 
20 years, although the life can be extended by a factor of two or three by timely surface 
dressings. 
 

43. The additional funding will allow the high priority carriageway maintenance schemes in 
the table below to be designed and constructed in 2020/21. 

 

Road 
No 

Road Name Parish Site Limits 
 

Treatment 
Priority  
Score 

A50 
Leicester 
Road 

Groby 
Field Head Roundabout - Landfill 
Roundabout, both directions 

 Strengthen 
Carriageway 

63 

A511 Ashby Road 
Ravenstone 
with Snibston 

Alton Hill - STW Pumping Station 
at Sinope 

 Strengthen 
Carriageway 

62 

A47 
Billesdon 
Bypass 

Billesdon 
Eastbound dual at B6047 
Crossroads 

 Strengthen 
Carriageway 

60 

B5350 Woodgate Loughborough Bedford Square - High Street 
 Strengthen 

carriageway 
54 

A607 
Leicester 
Road 

Melton 
Mowbray 

Roundabout with Lake Terrace 
 Strengthen 

Carriageway 
54 

UC 
Frederick 
Street 

Loughborough 
Browns Lane - Ashby Road 
junction, including Ashby Road 
junction area 

 Strengthen 
carriageway 
and Asphalt 
Reinforcement 

53 

A607 
Syston N 
Bypass  
Roundabout 

Queniborough 
Syston N Bypass / Melton Road / 
Rearsby Bypass / Rearsby Road 
Roundabout 

 
Resurface 
Carriageway 

53 

 

44. The following two schemes on the A453 are also programmed to be carried out, but the 
timing may be impacted by the need to manage deliveries to the airport as part of the 
United Kingdom’s exit from the European Union in early 2021.  

 

A453 Ashby Road 
Castle 

Donington 

Beverley Road Roundabout - M1 

Jct 23a Roundabout 

Strengthen 

Carriageway 
63 

A453 Ashby Road 
Castle 

Donington 
Airport Entrance 

Strengthen 

Carriageway 
60 

 

 

 

52



 

Additional Carriageway Patching Works £2.0million 

 

45. Carriageway patching is the main treatment for repairing areas of potholing and localised 
carriageway failures. The current backlog of carriageway patching across the county is 
estimated to be in the region of £12million covering approximately 350,000sqm of 
carriageway. Approximately £4million of this is considered to be a high priority due to the 
risk of potholes forming. 
 

46. The current level of funding for planned carriageway patching in 2020/21 is 
£4.256million.  This may be enough to patch the immediate high priority risk areas where 
potholes are likely to form, but it will not allow the works to keep up with the rate of 
carriageway deterioration and will not allow for any longer-term issues to be addressed. 
 

47. The further £2.0million has been allocated to planned carriageway patching in 2020/21 to 
enable the rate of patching to keep pace with the rate of deterioration and to start to 
address some of the longer-term issues that can successfully be resolved with 
carriageway patching. 

 

Additional Road Lining and Road Stud Works £0.5million 

 

48. Because of the decade of underfunding for highway maintenance the condition of the 
road lining and road studs across the county is considered to be poor. A recent night-
time survey of Leicestershire’s Resilient Road Network identified the poor condition of 
this network, with £950,000 of lining work required to bring this network up to an 
acceptable standard. A similar amount is considered necessary to bring the road studs 
up to an acceptable standard on the Resilient Network. 
 

49. The current allocation for lining and road studs on all the county’s roads is £1.045million.  
The demand for lining and road studs across the county is several times this amount and 
will take several years of higher funding to enable the demand to be matched by the 
amount of work carried out. 
 

50. The additional Department for Transport funding is primarily intended for works that will 
either treat potholes or will stop them from forming in the first place. Increasing the 
amount of road lining and road stud work carried out will not affect the number of 
potholes on the network, but better road markings will help to reduce the frequency of 
accidents. There is flexibility on how the County Council allocates the additional funding 
and an increase in £0.5million is considered to be appropriate. 

 
Zouch Bridge Replacement Scheme 

 

51. As advised earlier in the report, due to the current financial position the County Council is 
reviewing how the scheme is funded and delivered.  

 
52. Part of the additional Transport Infrastructure Investment Funding was allocated to 

Zouch bridge to support this review and manage the risks of not delivering including; 
a. The longer the delay the more it will cost 
b. Risk to the bridge (regular inspections are being carried out) 
c. Risk of needing single lane working or closure leading to traffic diversion 

measures if deterioration reaches a critical point impacting 10,000 users daily 
d. More costs from more inspections over the next 12 months and beyond 

53



 

e. Potential expiry of planning and Environment Agency consents – start must be by 
July 2023, so no imminent problems. 
 

Challenge Fund Bid 

 
53. The ‘Three Bypasses’ Highways Maintenance Challenge Fund Bid was submitted by the 

County Council in October 2019. On 30th June 2020 the Department for Transport 
announced further funding under the Transport Infrastructure Investment Fund, of which 
the Highways Maintenance Challenge Fund is part. Full approval was given for the 
project and the County Council was awarded £4.968million towards the cost, with a local 
funding allocation of £700,000.  

 
54. The project consists of major maintenance on three key routes in the county and the 

work will be completed by March 2021. Resurfacing work will be carried out on: 
a. The A6 Market Harborough bypass on the Leicestershire and Northamptonshire 

sections; 
b. The A426 Blaby Bypass – including the four roundabouts; 
c. The A47 Hinckley in two locations - the Dodwells Road section between the A5 

and the Triumph roundabout and the Normandy Way roundabout with Wykin 
Road. Footway and cycle track improvement work will also take place.  

 
Conclusion 
 

55. The challenges of the Covid-19 restrictions and the award of additional maintenance 
monies by the Department for Transport have resulted in a reprofiling of the Highway 
Capital Programme as reflected in the recent Medium Term Financial Strategy refresh 
reported to Cabinet on 18th September 2020. All of the additional funding has been 
allocated based on the County Council’s Risk Based Approach to maintaining the 
highway network and will benefit users across Leicestershire. 

 
 

Resource Implications 
 

56. The additional funding will require an increase in staff resource and the use of external 
contractors from existing framework contracts. The cost of this will be met from the 
capital programme.  

57. The Director of Corporate Resources have been consulted on the contents of this report.  

 
 
Background Papers 

 
Report to the Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 4th June 
2020, Coronavirus (Covid-19) Update  
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s152782/COVID-19%20Update%20Report.pdf   
 
Report to the Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 3rd 
September 2020, Covid–19 Recovery Update  
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s155041/Covid%20Recovery%20-
%20Sept%202020.pdf  
 
Report to the Cabinet, 18th September 2020, Medium Term Financial Strategy - Latest 
Position 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s155524/MTFS%20Latest%20Position%20FINAL.pdf  

54

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s152782/COVID-19%20Update%20Report.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s155041/Covid%20Recovery%20-%20Sept%202020.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s155041/Covid%20Recovery%20-%20Sept%202020.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s155524/MTFS%20Latest%20Position%20FINAL.pdf


 

 
Highway Infrastructure Asset Management Plan HIAMP 
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2019/11/14/Highways-
Infrastructure-Asset-Management-Plan-HIAMP-Review.pdf 
 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
None 
 
Appendix  
 
Appendix A – Highway Capital Programme in MTFS February 2020 and September 2020 
Refresh. 
 
Officer to Contact 
 
Ann Carruthers  
Director of Environment and Transport  
Tel: (0116) 305 7000  
Email: ann.carruthers@leics.gov.uk 
 
Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 

58. Capital Highway Maintenance is a universal service supporting all users of the network. 
 
Environmental Implications 
 

59. There are no additional environmental implications of utilising the funding. Ensuring the 
highway network is managed efficiently including limiting repeat repairs and maintenance 
will reduce congestion with a potential resultant benefit to air quality. 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

55



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A 

Highway Capital Programme in MTFS February 2020 

Estimated 
Completion 

Date 

Gross 
Cost of 
Project 

£000 

 
 
 

2020/21 
£000 

2021/22 
£000 

2022/23 
£000 

2023/24 
£000 

Total 
£000 

 
Mar-23 

 
86,900 

Major Schemes 
Lutterworth Development – Infrastructure (subject to grant bid) 

 
3,830 

 
38,750 

 
38,420 

  
81,000 

Mar-23 63,500 Melton Mowbray Distributor Road – North and East Sections 6,610 28,170 24,780  59,560 

Mar-24 27,900 Melton Distributor Road – Southern Section 1,500 4,000 14,200 8,200 27,900 

Mar-23 9,380 Zouch Bridge Replacement – Construction and Enabling Works 3,850 2,080 220  6,150 

Mar-21 24,780 M1 Junction 23 / A512 Improvements 8,730    8,730 

Mar-24 7,390 County Council Vehicle Replacement Programme 2,890 1,500 1,500 1,500 7,390 

Mar-24 6,860 Advanced Design / Match Funding 1,970 1,670 1,620 1,600 6,860 

Mar-22 5,340 A511/A50 Major Road Network – Advanced Design 1,960 1,740   3,700 

Mar-21 10,740 Anstey Lane A46 (subject to £4.1m Leicester City contribution) 3,050    3,050 

Mar-22 2,000 M1 Junction 20A – Advanced Design 1,000 500   1,500 

Mar-23 5,300 Melton Depot – Replacement 0 0 5,000  5,000 

   35,390 78,410 85,740 11,300 210,840 

 
Mar-24 

 
35,040 

 
Transport Asset Management 

 
0 

 
11,680 

 
11,680 

 
11,680 

 
35,040 

Mar-21 1,690  Capital Schemes and Design 1,690    1,690 

Mar-21 630  Bridges 630    630 

Mar-21 440  Flood Alleviation – Environmental Works  440    440 

Mar-21 250  Street Lighting 250    250 

Mar-21 110  Traffic Signal Renewal 110    110 

Mar-21 4,060  Preventative Maintenance – (Surface Dressing)  4,060    4,060 

Mar-21 6,410  Restorative (Patching) 6,410    6,410 

Mar-21 2,300  Additional Highway Maintenance 2,300    2,300 

Mar-24 5,010  Additional Highway Incentive Fund subject to meeting level 3 criteria 0 1,670 1,670 1,670 5,010 

Mar-21 250 Safety Schemes 250    250 

Mar-21 300 Croft – Billesdon Depot Scheme 100    100 

Mar-22 110 Highways Maintenance – IT renewals 80 30   110 

   16,320 13,380 13,350 13,350 56,400 

 

Highway Capital Programme in MTFS Refresh September 2020 

Estimated 
Completion 

Date 

Gross 
Cost of 
Project 

£000 

 
 
 

2020/21 
£000 

2021/22 
£000 

2022/23 
£000 

2023/24 
£000 

Total 
£000 

 
Mar-21 

 
tbc 

Major Schemes 
Lutterworth Development – Infrastructure (subject to grant bid) 

 
1,000 

    
1,000 

Mar-23 63,500 Melton Mowbray Distributor Road – North and East Sections 2,754 31,802 24,780  59,336 

Mar-24 27,900 Melton Distributor Road – Southern Section 500 5,000 14,200 8,200 27,900 

Apr-24 12,430 Zouch Bridge Replacement – Construction and Enabling Works 866 0 3,574 6,782 11,222 

Mar-22 24,780 M1 Junction 23 / A512 Improvements 16,456 368   16,824 

Mar-24 7,670 County Council Vehicle Replacement Programme 1,470 2,200 2,000 2,000 7,670 

Mar-24 8,058 Advanced Design / Match Funding 1,710 3,128 1,620 1,600 8,058 

Mar-22 5,340 A511/A50 Major Road Network – Advanced Design 2,640 1,740   4,380 

Aug-20 10,740 Anstey Lane A46 (subject to £4.1m Leicester City contribution) 3,436 222   3,658 

Mar-23 2,000 M1 Junction 20A – Advanced Design 500 1,000 413  1,913 

Mar-24 5,300 Melton Depot – Replacement 60 0 0 5,000 5,060 

Mar-21 325 Coalville Ashby Road Highway Works 311    311 

Mar-21 77 SEP – Lubbesthorpe Str Emp Site 77    77 

Mar-21 18 TAP – Capital Schemes and Design 18    18 

  Sub Total – Major Schemes 31,798 45,460 46,587 23,582 147,427 

 
Mar-24 

 
29,459 

 
Transport Asset Management 

 
0 

 
11,680 

 
9,620 

 
8,159 

 
29,459 

Mar-21 9,652  Capital Schemes and Design 9,652    9,652 

Mar-21 811  Bridges 811    811 

Mar-21 771  Flood Alleviation – Environmental Works  771    771 

Mar-21 597  Street Lighting 597    597 

Mar-21 85  Traffic Signal Renewal 85    85 

Mar-21 3,302  Preventative Maintenance – (Surface Dressing)  3,302    3,302 

Mar-21 9,318  Restorative (Patching) 9,318    9,318 

Mar-21 711  Safety Barrier etc. 711    711 

Mar-24 5,010  Additional Highway Incentive Fund subject to meeting level 3 criteria 0 1,670 1,670 1,670 5,010 

Mar-21 21 Birstall P&R Cycleways 21    21 

Mar-22 5,550 Hinckley Hub (Hawley Road) – NPIF 1,516 3,800   5,316 

Mar-22 2,206 Safety Schemes 1,624 582   2,206 

Mar-21 300 Croft – Billesdon Depot Scheme 80    80 

Mar-22 200 Highways Maintenance – IT renewals 98 102   200 

Mar-21 2 Externally Funded Schemes 2    2 

  Sub Total – Highways and Transport Schemes 28,588 17,834 11,290 9,829 67,541 

 

 

 

57



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE – 5th NOVEMBER 2020 

 
COMMUNITY SPEED ENFORCEMENT INITIATIVE 

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT 

 
 
Purpose of Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to advise the Committee of the outcome of the average 

speed camera trial and its resulting proposed Community Speed Enforcement 
Initiative (CSEI) that will continue to address community speed concerns and advise 
the Committee of Cabinet’s decision to adopt a formal position on the establishment 
of a CSEI. 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions  

 
2. In February 2017 the County Council’s Cabinet considered a report on the Council’s 

proposed approach to community speed cameras and inter alia agreed to write to 
the Department for Transport (DfT) on the matter and to campaign for a change to 
 national policy guidance. In the meantime, the Director of Environment and 
 Transport was authorised to develop trial schemes and local criteria for a local 
 safety camera scheme. 

 
3. On 10 March 2017, the Cabinet resolved to fund a Community Speed Enforcement 

 initiative (average speed camera) at seven trial sites throughout Leicestershire, 
using average speed cameras at a cost (from 2016/17 underspends) of £500,000. 

 
4.  In approving the trial consideration was given to:  

 
i. ‘Road Casualty Reduction in Leicestershire and Future Approach to Casualty 

Reduction’ report, which was considered by the Environment and Transport 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 12 September 2016.  

 
ii. The Government’s policy for safety cameras (Department for Transport, 

Handbook of Rules and Guidance for the National Safety Camera Programme 
for England and Wales for 2006/07). 

 
iii. The Government’s guidance on the use of speed and red light cameras for 

traffic enforcement: guidance on deployment, visibility and signing (DfT Circular 
01/2007).  

 
5. On 20 October 2020 the Cabinet adopted a formal position on the establishment of 

a Community Speed Enforcement Initiative, following the trial of average speed 
cameras at seven locations in Leicestershire. 

59 Agenda Item 10



 

 
Background 
 
6. Communities often contact the Council to report concerns over speeding of vehicles 

and safety for local people.  Previously, the Council’s approach, in line with many 
other authorities was to adopt a strict interpretation of national guidance (DfT 
Circular 01/2007) that would only allow enforcement cameras to be installed at sites 
with a serious accident record and where speeds commonly significantly exceeded 
the speed limit. As a result, the Council has often been unable to offer assistance in 
the form of enforcement cameras to communities expressing concerns about 
speeding and safety. 
 

7. In acknowledgment of the considerable community concern Cabinet considered a 
report in February 2017 setting out the relevant issues including the Authority’s 
position that community concerns could be better met if revenue generated from 
fines could be retained locally rather than at central government level. 
 

8. The Cabinet resolved to write to the DfT on the matter and, if necessary, to continue 
to campaign for a change to national policy guidance on safety cameras seeking 
new criteria for identifying suitable locations for installation of safety cameras and 
agreement to the proposal that local authorities retain fine income to fund camera 
installation costs.  
 

9. The Cabinet agreed to seek support from the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland 
Road Safety Partnership (LLRRSP) and in the meantime authorised the Director of 
Environment and Transport to develop trial schemes and local criteria for the use of 
safety cameras. 
 

10. Building on this, and following dialogue with the DfT on 10 March 2017, the Cabinet 
resolved to fund a CSEI at seven trial sites throughout Leicestershire, on the basis 
of a wider interpretation of the guidance. The approach used average speed 
cameras at a cost of £500,000.   
 

11. This new approach was to introduce average speed cameras in locations where 
speed data showed that the level of speeds in communities were excessive and 
where significant local concern had been expressed about speeding traffic. This 
would allow the Police to use average speed cameras to enforce speed limits at the 
Council’s request, irrespective of the casualty record at the locations. 
 
Role of the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Road Safety Partnership  
 

12. The existing Safety Camera Scheme is directly managed by Leicestershire Police. It 
forms an integral part of the LLRRSP, which consists of the following organisations 
 

 Leicestershire County Council  

 Leicester City Council  

 Rutland Council  

 Leicestershire Police  

 Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service  

 Highways England  

 Leicestershire Magistrates’ Courts  

 Public Health.  
 

60



 

13. The LLRRSP has a history of excellent partnership working to deliver initiatives to 
support the safety of all road users.  Positive engagement leading to strong 
relationships with communities and are an important part of all the member 
organisations’ objectives.   
 

14. The LLRRSP agreed to undertake enforcement activities to support the schemes on 
a trial basis.  As a member of the partnership Leicestershire Police raised the issue 
that this would require enforcement of sites that do not meet the usual criteria for 
installation of cameras and may cause potential conflict in terms of use of 
resources. It was agreed that this would be monitored by the LLRRSP Board and 
consideration of the issue would be included in the trial evaluation.  
 

Site Development 
 

15. Seven sites were chosen for the trial, one in every district of the County. The sites 
were chosen to represent three different types of location: 

 
1) Village sites (where a speeding problem exists, and the community has 

expressed concerns). 

2) Rural route sites (where there is a higher than national average accident rate 

and where a reduced speed limit and effective enforcement will reduce the 

rate). 

3) Key arterial route sites (to develop a corridor approach to enforce the speed 

limit and to provide such information as average speeds and journey times). 

 
16. The table below indicates the proposed trial sites and the rationale for their choice: 

 

Site Category Rationale 

Sharnford 
(Blaby) 

Village A rural village with a longstanding 
community concerns, an LLRRSP site with 
mean speeds downhill of 31.2mph and 85 
percentile speeds downhill of 35.9 mph in a 
30mph limit. 

Woodhouse Eaves 
(Charnwood) 

Village A rural village with a longstanding issue and 
community concerns, with mean speeds of 
32.9 mph and 85 percentile speeds of 41.4 
mph in a 30mph limit. 

Measham 
(North West 
Leicestershire) 

Village A rural village with a long-standing issue 
and community concerns, an LLRRSP 
community concern site and a community 
speed watch site with mean speeds of 42.8 
mph and 85 percentile speeds of 50 mph in 
the 30mph limit. 

Walcote 
(Harborough) 

Village A rural village with a long-standing issue 
and community concerns, an LLRRSP 
community concern site with mean speeds 
of 35.4 mph and 85percentile speeds of 39 
mph in a 30 mph limit. 

B676 Melton to 
County boundary 
(Melton) 

Rural 
Route 

A low standard rural route with an accident 
rate of between 357 and 390 accidents per 
billion vehicle kilometres compared to a 

61



 

national average accident rate for rural 
roads of 267 accidents per billion vehicle 
kilometres. Proposals for a reduction in 
speed limit from National Speed Limit to 
50mph currently being considered. 

A6 Harborough 
Road, Oadby 
(Oadby and 
Wigston) 

Major 
Arterial 
Route 

A key arterial route providing access into 
the Principal Urban Area (PUA) and forming 
part of the Council’s Major Route Network. 
Carries in excess of 19,500 vehicles per day 
with over 800 vehicles per day exceeding 
50mph in a 30mph limit. 

A50 Field Head to 
City boundary 
(Hinckley and 
Bosworth) 

Major 
Arterial 
Route 

A key arterial route providing access into 
the PUA and forming part of the Council’s 
Major Route Network. Carries in excess of 
25000 vehicles per day. Speed limit due to 
be reduced in April 2017 and requests for 
average speed cameras received during 
consultation. 

 
17. Following approval from Cabinet, officers met with parishes and local representatives 

of the seven trial sites to explain the basis of the trial and agree the details for 
installation.  
 

18. A detailed tender and procurement process was undertaken and Jenoptik Traffic 
Solutions UK (Jenoptik) was appointed to supply the equipment for the trial.  
 

19. Once the site extents had been agreed a significant amount of preparatory work 
was required. This was undertaken by the County Council in conjunction with 
Jenoptik and included detailed site design, signing requirements and electrical and 
structural testing of the street furniture to be used to attach the camera. 
 

20. Equipment calibration also had to be undertaken before the sites could become 
operational.  It was also necessary to co-ordinate with the Leicestershire Police to 
ensure adequate enforcement capability was available. 
 

21. As this was the first time the County Council had undertaken such a scheme, an 
estimated programme was developed taking into account the activities set out 
above.  The extensive amount of preparatory work for each aspect of the trial took 
longer than expected resulting in a delay to the start dates, which were as follows:  

 

 15 September 2018 - Sharnford, Measham and Walcote 

 2 November 2018 - Groby and Oadby 

 10 January 2019 - Woodhouse Eaves  

 August/September 2019 - B676 Freeby (delayed due to complex power issues). 
 
 Data from the Trial - Traffic speeds 

 
22. In order to establish a base data set, and support analysis of the trial, ‘before’ 

surveys were carried out at all locations during May 2017.  The data collection 
exercise was extended to additional roads where communities had also raised 
concerns. 
 

62



 

23. This data was then used to establish the locations for the average speed cameras 
in consultation with the local parish and district council. 
 

24. Further data on traffic speeds has been collected at regular intervals during the trial 
at all sites that are operational to judge the effect on speeds of having the cameras 
in place. Speed data was collected when the signs were installed, when the 
cameras where installed, and at various times during the operational period of the 
sites. A summary of the speed data by location is detailed in the table below. 
 

Location 
Speed 
Limit Direction 

Average 
Daily 
Total 
2019 
(ADT) 

Before During After 

85th 
%ile 

Mean 
Speed 

85th 
%ile 

Mean 
Speed 

85th 
%ile 

Mean 
Speed 

Sharnford, 
opposite 

The 
Bricklayers 

PH 

30 

Northeastbound 4362 30.2 27.2 28.5 25.4 28.7 25.8 

Southwestbound 4004 29.4 25.9 29.1 25.3 27.7 24.3 

Combined   29.9 26.6 28.8 25.4 28.3 25.1 

Beacon 
Road, 

Woodhouse 
Eaves 

40 

Eastbound 3566 41 35.7 35.7 29.2 36.9 29.7 

Westbound 3354 38.1 32.3 35 27.3 34.4 26.9 

Combined   39.9 34 35.5 28.3 36 28.4 

Burton 
Road, 

Measham 
30 

Southeastbound 1647 45.8 38.3 43.2 35.9 30.9 28.2 

Northwestbound 1506 45.5 38.6 43.4 36.7 31.1 28.1 

Combined   45.5 38.4 43.4 36.3 31 28.1 

A4304 
Lutterworth 

Road, 
Walcote 

30 

Eastbound 5138 32.2 27.9 32.2 28 29.1 26 

Westbound 5135 34 28.8 33.1 28 29.5 25.8 

Combined   33.1 28.4 32.7 28 29.3 25.9 

B676 
Saxby 
Road, 
Freeby 

50 

Eastbound 2256 59.8 52.9 49.7 43.7 50.9 46.5 

Westbound 2331 57.5 51 49.2 42.2 52 47.3 

Combined   58.7 52 49.4 43 51.4 46.9 

A6, Oadby 40 

Northwestbound 11343 38.8 29.6 36.1 26.8 33.5 24.7 

Southeastbound 11733 41.6 35.7 40.9 34.9 37.8 32.9 

Combined   40.2 32.7 38.5 30.9 35.7 28.8 

A50 
Bradgate 

Hill, Groby 
40 

Northwestbound 13812 52.3 44.6 53.3 45.4 44 39.5 

Southeastbound 14487 52.6 45.1 53.2 45.6 43.6 39.3 

Combined   52.4 44.9 53.3 45.5 43.8 39.4 

 
 
Enforcement activity 

 
25. In Leicestershire enforcement activity is managed by Leicestershire Police in line 

with the memorandum of understanding that underpins the LLRRSP. A key principle 
of the memorandum is that the Police have ultimate operational control of 
enforcement resource.  
 

26. Enforcement activity at all seven sites in the trial has been on a ‘dynamic 
enforcement’ basis, i.e. whilst the cameras are continuously ‘switched on’ 
enforcement activity was limited to a few sites at any one time.  This is national 
common practice and is based on the ability of the Police to enforce.  All seven sites 
operated on an equal basis for the duration of the trial. 

63



 

 
27. Enforcement of the speed limit at each of the trial sites resulted in a number of 

penalty notices being issued and also offers of Driver Education Workshops places 
being made. These aspects have been monitored on a regular basis throughout the 
operation of the trial. 
 

28. Offences are categorised into three distinct classifications, those where the drivers 
are offered a Driver Education Work Course, those where they receive a Fixed 
Penalty Notice, and those where the driver is summoned to attend court. The speed 
threshold is as detailed in the table below: 

 

Limit 
Device 

tolerance 

Fixed Penalty 
when education 

is not 
appropriate 

Speed 
Awareness if 
appropriate 

Summons 
in all other 
cases and 

above From To 

20 mph 22 mph 24 mph 24 mph 31 mph 35 mph 

30 mph 32 mph 35 mph 35 mph 42 mph 50 mph 

40 mph 42 mph 46 mph 46 mph 53 mph 66 mph 

50 mph 52 mph 57 mph 57 mph 64 mph 76 mph 

60 mph 62 mph 68 mph 68 mph 75 mph 86 mph 

70 mph 73 mph 79 mph 79 mph 86 mph 96 mph 

All speeds identified above are those shown on the speed device, speedometer or other detection devices 

 
29. Since the cameras have been operational just over 17 million vehicles have passed 

sites in Sharnford, Walcote, Measham, Oadby, Woodhouse Eaves and Groby, with 
0.09% of those vehicle owners - 15,300 - issued with notices. 
 

30. A summary of the total offences by site since the cameras went live is detailed by 
site, by direction in the table below. 

 

 
 

Site Per Direction 
Type of Offence 

All Offences Speed 
Awareness 

Conditional 
Offer Court 

B4114 Sharnford NE 270 3 0 273 

B4114 Sharnford NW 42 0 0 42 

Woodhouse East 154 6 1 161 

Woodhouse West 74 2 0 76 

Measham East 3151 434 40 3625 

Measham West 4217 679 79 4975 

Walcote East 2371 127 7 2505 

Walcote West 2840 155 12 3007 

B676 East 47 2 0 49 

B676 West 78 0 0 78 

A6 North 45 3 0 48 

A6 South 241 27 1 269 

A50 North 2895 183 1 3079 

A50 South 1566 65 5 1636 

64



 

31. Whilst all offences are processed by Leicestershire Police not all Driver Education 
Workshop (DEW) Courses are completed in Leicestershire.  This is because 
offenders may only have been travelling through Leicestershire and want to take a 
course closer to work or home for instance. As a result, not all income from DEW 
will be received in Leicestershire.  Therefore, there can be no straight-line 
correlation on income received through the DEW.  
 

32. It should be noted that from the time of the offence to completing a course is 
estimated at 12 weeks.   
 

33. The table below details the current percentage of those offenders completing 
courses within Leicestershire and those going elsewhere to complete a Driver 
Education Workshop: 
 

  Leicestershire Other Total 

B4114 SHARNFORD NORTHEASTBOUND 47.8 52.2 100 

B4114 SHARNFORD SOUTHWESTBOUND 43.5 56.5 100 

BEACON ROAD, WOODHOUSE EAVES 
NORTHEASTBOUND 

81.8 18.2 100 

BEACON ROAD, WOODHOUSE EAVES 
SOUTHWESTBOUND 

94.4 5.6 100 

BURTON ROAD, MEASHAM EASTBOUND 42.5 57.5 100 

BURTON ROAD, MEASHAM WESTBOUND 48.6 51.4 100 

A4304 LUTTERWORTH ROAD, WALCOTE EASTBOUND 46.4 53.6 100 

A4304 LUTTERWORTH ROAD, WALCOTE WESTBOUND 44.8 55.2 100 

A6 OADBY NORTHBOUND 90 10 100 

A6 OADBY SOUTHBOUND 78.3 21.7 100 

A50 BRADGATE HILL, GROBY NORTHWESTBOUND 74.5 25.5 100 

A50 BRADGATE HILL, GROBY SOUTHEASTBOUND 58.3 41.7 100 

Total 52.2 47.8 100 

 
 
Air Quality and Noise Pollution 

 
34. Data on air and noise pollution have been collected at regular intervals during the 

trial. This has been used to help identify any impact the installation of average 
speed cameras can have in managing air and noise pollution for communities.  
 

35. Road vehicles are the main source of air pollution in the most populated urban 
environments, with pollutants that have the greatest health impacts. The 
government has identified that the most immediate and urgent air quality challenge 
faced by local authorities is to tackle the problem of nitrogen dioxide (NO2) 
concentrations around roads, as road transport is responsible for approximately 
80% of roadside NO2 concentrations. 
 

36. In July 2017, Defra and the DfT’s Joint Air Quality Unit (JAQU) published its plan for 
tackling air quality: Air Quality Plan for tackling roadside nitrogen dioxide (NO2). The 
Plan set out actions to bring NO2 air pollution within statutory limits in the shortest 
possible time.  
 

37. Whilst none of the average speed camera sites are considered to have an air 
quality issue in line with national guidance the data does show that the ‘smoothing 

65



 

out’ (travelling at more consistent speed) of traffic speeds does have a positive 
effect on NO2 levels, as shown in this table: 
 

Location Before 
Signs 

Installed During 

µg NO2 µg NO2 µg NO2

B4114, Sharnford 0.48 0.58 0.38 

Beacon Road, Woodhouse Eaves 0.4 0.36 0.24 

Burton Road, Measham 0.55 0.39 0.34 

A4304 Lutterworth Road, Walcote 0.46 0.53 0.23 

B676 Saxby Road, Freeby 0.34 0.27 N/A 

A6, Oadby 0.52 0.68 0.33 

A50 Bradgate Hill, Groby 0.51 0.56 0.34 

 
38. None of the average speed camera sites are considered to have noise issue and 

the data indicates a minimal change in noise data in some communities but this is 
not significant, as shown in the table below: 
 

 Location 

Before After 

LAEQ,16hr LAEQ,16hr 

B4114, Sharnford 72.2 77.2 

Beacon Road, Woodhouse Eaves 72.9 71.3 

Burton Road, Measham 69.8 64.6 

A4304 Lutterworth Road, Walcote 74.5 78.3 

B676 Saxby Road, Freeby 74.6 74.0 

A6, Oadby 70.7 71.6 

A50 Bradgate Hill, Groby 75.8 74.3 

 
 

Police Community Concern Sites 
 

39. In June 2019 the Police introduced ‘community concern sites’ as a category of site 
that does not have an accident record. These sites traditionally would not meet the 
criteria for Core Mobile or Static speed enforcement by the Safety Camera Team 
within Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland. 
 

40. Broadly a Police community concern site is a site where 50% of all speeds are over 
the National Police and Crime Commissioner (NPCC) threshold. Sites identified as 
a ‘community concern site’ can be visited at least once every six weeks as detailed 
in the Police’s Enforcement Strategy for mobile speed enforcement under the 
community concern category. 
 

 Proposals 
 

41. The results of the CSEI trial show that average speed cameras have had a positive 
 impact in reducing vehicle speed. The decision by Cabinet will facilitate the 
introduction of a new CSEI that incorporates the experience gained through the trial 
and will provide an appropriate framework to identify and deliver new sites using a 
consistent and evidenced based approach. 

66



 

 
42. Speeding offences are enforced by the Police. The LLRRSP manages speed 

camera programme with enforcement being undertaken by Leicestershire Police in 
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland and a successful role out of community 
average speed camera enforcement initiatives is therefore dependent on the 
partnership 

 
43. Based on the experience of the trial, DfT guidance and liaison with the LLRRSP, the 

County Council proposes to introduce a programme of community speed 
enforcement to deliver appropriate measures to reduce speed in communities as 
set out below.  
 

44. Before being considered as a suitable location for installation of average speed 
cameras, the following criteria must be satisfied: 

 
i. Communities must have a speeding issue which meets the new police 

community concern site criteria of 50% of all traffic above the NPCC threshold.  

(There may already be an identified accident issue.) 

ii. The location will be reviewed by the County Council and the Police to establish 

if the speed limit is appropriate in line with DfT guidance, with the 

understanding that some speed limits may change, rather than enforcement 

initiatives being installed. 

iii. Communities, in liaison with the County Council, must explore and exhaust all 

other appropriate options for reducing speed (such as Gateway treatments, 

Community Speed Watch, Vehicle Activated Signs, mobile Vehicle Activated 

Signs) before installation of speed cameras is considered.  

iv. Local Community representatives are in agreement. 

v. It must be possible to install the necessary cameras and equipment on site at 

a reasonable and proportionate cost to the County Council. 

vi. It can be demonstrated that there are no other options for managing speed 

within the community. (The general principle is that speed cameras should be 

a last resort solution, not the first.) 

45. It should be noted that the proposed criteria mean cameras will not be installed in 
communities with a perceived speed problem i.e. data confirms that less than 50% 
of traffic exceeds the NPPC threshold.  The above criteria will ensure: 
 

i. an evidence based consistent approach  
ii. proactive engagement by communities who have tried to resolve the issue by 

participating in schemes to help change driver behaviour  
iii. all other traffic management techniques have been explored/implemented 
iv. the speed limit is appropriate for the environment 
v. consistency across responsible organisations 
vi. that officers can manage resources appropriately within the initiative. 

 
46. Officers will arrange to update the identified list of potential sites using new data, 

subject to the criteria above, in the New Year.  The first 12 months of the 
programme will be focussed on identifying alternative options to managing speed 
and working through the criteria to ascertain which sites suitable for alternative 

67



 

interventions and those suitable for average speed cameras. These elements will 
form the programme for the scheme ongoing.  
 

47. From this work, a rolling programme of sites will be identified, and average speed 
camera assets will be moved around the county in line with the updated 
programme. The programme will be developed in Spring 2021 as data is collated 
and the criteria are worked through for potential sites.  This process will be repeated 
annually to include any new sites put forward for consideration. 
 

48. Operational enforcement will continue to be managed by the police through the 
LLRRSP facilitated by the Memorandum of Understanding.   
 
Government lobbying 
 

49. The County Council has made a number of direct approaches to HM Treasury to 
seek a change to the national policy on the funding of camera sites. Currently, any 
fine income is passed to the Treasury.  The Council has asked that money from 
fines can first be used to fund the cost of the community safety initiatives, including 
the costs of average speed cameras, with any remaining funding reverting to HM 
Treasury.  
 

50. Whilst the Government appreciates the possible benefits of the proposal, HM 
Treasury has advised that it does not support the retention of fine income by local 
authorities.  The County Council will continue to make the case for a change, which 
would enable it to extend the scheme to other communities across Leicestershire.  
 

Consultation 
 

51. It is intended that consultation with local communities on the proposed locations for 
the cameras will take place from Spring 2021 onwards.  

 
Resource Implications 

 
52. The staff costs of £50,000 per annum have been informed by the trial. Maintaining 

 all 14 sites is expected to cost £110,000. To ensure all communities within the 
 criteria can benefit sites will need to be relocated. This will cost £245,000 based on 
 an estimated cost of £35,000 per site and assuming seven sites will be moved 
yearly. A summary of the resource requirements against the current funding 
available is provided below: 
 

 One-off 
£m 

On-going 
£m 

Staffing  0.05 

Camera maintenance cost across 14 sites  0.11 

Site relocation (moving 7 sites annually)  0.25 

Site installation (7 sites) 0.42  

Total Cost 0.42 0.41 

Current Budget -0.60 -0.06 

Revenue Funding Requirement -0.18 0.35 

 

68



 

53. Whilst there is a revenue budget of £55,000 to fund ongoing maintenance of the 
 existing seven sites, the ongoing revenue budget for additional sites will need to be 
managed as part of the existing maintenance programme in future years.  
 

54. In addition to revenue, Capital investment will be required to implement each new 
 site where average speed cameras are installed.  It is proposed that the number of 
 sites that could be installed per year will be limited to ensure there is adequate 
 resource to carry out full consultation and scheme development when identified. 
 

55. A Capital allocation of £600,000 has been assigned from the additional £7.3million 
 Highways budget in 2020/21.   
 

56. In those instances where communities do not have any traffic management 
 solutions already in place, all reasonable measures will be considered before 
 cameras are installed. At present funding for these measures will be managed from 
 the highways and transport capital programme.  
 

57. Funding of the programme will be identified and managed through the annual 

Highways and Transportation Capital Programme and Works Programme. 
 

58. The Director of Corporate Resources and the Director of Law and Governance were 
consulted on the content of the Cabinet report. 

 
Timetable for Decisions 

 
59. Cabinet approved the CSEI at its meeting on 20 October 2020.  

 
60. County Council in consultation with the LLRRSP will immediately begin to update the 

relevant data and identify potential sites, assess them fully against the proposed 
implementation criteria and then procure equipment and make arrangements for 
enforcement as required.  

 
61. Any comments received from the Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee will be considered by the Director of Environment and Transport to help in 
the delivery of the initiatives.  

 
Conclusion 
 
62. In March 2017 Cabinet resolved to fund a CSEI at seven trial sites throughout 

Leicestershire, introducing average speed cameras at locations where speed data 
showed that the level of speeds in communities were excessive and where significant 
local concern had been expressed about speeding traffic. The sites (one in each 
district) were chosen to represent three different types of location – village sites, rural 
route sites and key arterial route sites. The results of the trial show that average 
speed cameras have had a positive impact in reducing vehicle speed.  

 
63. On 20 October 2020 the Cabinet adopted a formal position on the establishment of a 

CSEI. Officers will arrange to update an identified list of potential sites in the New 
Year.  The first 12 months of the programme will be focussed on identifying 
alternative options to managing speed ascertaining which sites are suitable for 
alternative interventions and those suitable for average speed cameras.  

 

69



 

64. From this work, a rolling programme of sites will be identified, and average speed 
camera assets will be moved around the county in line with the updated programme. 
The programme will be developed in Spring 2021 and the process repeated annually 
to include any new sites put forward for consideration.  It is intended that consultation 
with local communities on the proposed locations for the cameras will take place from 
Spring 2021 onwards.  

 
65. Funding of the programme will be identified and managed through the annual 

Highways and Transportation Capital Programme and Works Programme. A Capital 

allocation of £600,000 has been assigned from the additional £7.3m  Highways 
budget in 2020/21. 

 
66. Any comments received from the Scrutiny Committee will be considered by the 

Director of Environment and Transport to help in the delivery of the initiatives.  
 
Background Papers 

 
 
Cabinet – 20 October 2020 – Community Speed Enforcement Initiative  
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s157173/Community%20Speed%20Enforcement%2
0Initiative.pdf 
 
Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny Committee - 12 September 2016 – 
‘Road Casualty Reduction in Leicestershire and Future Approach to Casualty Reduction’  
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1044&MId=4781&Ver=4 
 
Community Speed Enforcement: Cabinet Report 10 February 2017  
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=4858 
 
Community Speed Enforcement: Cabinet Report 10 March 2017  
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=4859 
 
 
 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure  
 
The Cabinet report, on which this Scrutiny report is based, was circulated to all Members 
of the County Council. 
 
 
Officer to Contact 
 
 
Ann Carruthers – Director 
Environment and Transport 
Tel:   (0116) 305 7000 
Email:  ann.carruthers@leics.gov.uk  
 
 
Ian Vears – Assistant Director 
Environment and Transport 
Tel:   (0116) 305 7966  
Email:  ian.vears@leics.gov.uk  

70

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s157173/Community%20Speed%20Enforcement%20Initiative.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s157173/Community%20Speed%20Enforcement%20Initiative.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1044&MId=4781&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=4858
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=4859
mailto:ann.carruthers@leics.gov.uk
mailto:ian.vears@leics.gov.uk


 

 
 
 
 
 
Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
67. There are no Equality and Human Rights Implications directly arising from this report. 

The proposed policy changes would bring a significant benefit to communities with 
speeding concerns 

 
68. The ability to install speed cameras more freely will reduce road deaths and injuries 

and improve the quality of life for the communities served by the County Council. 
 
69. No detailed equality assessment has been undertaken on the proposed changes to 

community speed enforcement. Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessments 
(EHRIAs) will be undertaken, as appropriate, during the review of any appropriate 
departmental strategies, prior to final decisions being made. 

 
Crime and Disorder Implications 
 
70. The Council continues to recognise the importance of seeking to address crime and 

fear of crime, including from speeding vehicles. It emphasises the importance of 
implementing policies and measures to support safe, high quality environments 
 

Environmental Implications 
 
71. Data has shown a positive effect on Air Quality throughout the trial. 
 
Partnership Working and Associated Issues 
 
72. The existing Safety Camera Scheme is directly managed by Leicestershire Police. It 

forms an integral part of the LLRRSP, which consists of the following organisations 
 

 Leicestershire County Council  

 Leicester City Council  

 Rutland Council  

 Leicestershire Police  

 Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service  

 Highways England  

 Leicestershire Magistrates’ Courts  

 Public Health.  
 
73. The LLRRSP has a history of excellent partnership working to deliver initiatives to 

support the safety of all road users.  Positive engagement leading to strong 
relationships with communities and are an important part of all the member 
organisations’ objectives.   

 
74. Speeding offences are enforced by the Police. The LLRRSP manages speed camera 

programme with enforcement being undertaken by Leicestershire Police in Leicester, 

71



 

Leicestershire and Rutland and a successful role out of community average speed 
camera enforcement initiatives is therefore dependent on the partnership. 

 
75. The LLRRSP agreed to undertake enforcement activities to support the schemes on 

a trial basis.  As a member of the partnership Leicestershire Police raised the issue 
that this would require enforcement of sites that do not meet the usual criteria for 
installation of cameras and may cause potential conflict in terms of use of resources. 
It was agreed that this would be monitored by the LLRRSP Board and consideration 
of the issue would be included in the trial evaluation.  

 
 

 

72



 

 
 

ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE: 5 NOVEMBER 2020 

 
NETWORK MANAGEMENT PLAN REFRESH 

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT 

 
Purpose of Report 
 
1. A presentation (Appendix A) will be given to the Committee by the Director, to 

provide an overview of the County Council’s proposed refreshed Network 
Management Plan (NMP). 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
2. The Council’s third Local Transport Plan (LTP3), which was approved by the 

County Council on 23 March 2011, placed a strong emphasis on supporting the 
economy, making the best use of the existing network and maximising the 
benefits and value for money of investments. The refreshed NMP is a key 
document to help the Authority deliver its LTP3. 
 

3. The Council’s Environment Strategy 2018-2030, which was approved by Cabinet 
on 6 July 2018, includes aims to reduce the environmental impacts of travel and 
transport. Leicestershire County Council’s Environmental Strategy 2018-2030 
includes specific targets to reduce the environmental impacts of travel and 
transport. A poorly functioning, congested road network can have a negative 
impact on the environment. Through maintaining an holistic approach to the 
management of our network, the delivery of our refreshed NMP will help to 
address the environmental impact of transport, including noise, air quality and 
carbon reduction. 

 
4. On 15 May 2019, the County Council declared a climate emergency and 

committed to achieving carbon neutrality by 2030 for its own operations, to work 
with others and to lobby government to make the wider 2030 target possible. The 
refreshed NMP continues to embrace the promotion of sustainable modes of 
travel not only as a means to effectively manage our network but also to help to 
decarbonise transport. 
 

5. The Council’s revised Strategic Plan (agreed by the County Council on 8 July 
2020), supported by the Council’s Enabling Growth Plan, outlines the Council’s 
five key outcomes for 2018 to 2022. It is recognised that the Plan will need to be 
revisited at an appropriate point in the future, once the longer-term transport 
impact of the Coronavirus pandemic becomes known. By effectively managing 
the road network through a continued holistic approach , the Authority aims to: 
provide more consistent, predictable and reliable journeys for the movement of 
people and goods, thereby supporting the delivery of new homes and jobs; 
improve safety and accessibility for all road users, helping to promote healthier 

73 Agenda Item 11



 

and less polluting (including carbon) modes of travel. The refreshed NMP 
thereby supports delivery of all five of the Strategic Plan’s strategic outcomes: 

 

 Strong Economy: Leicestershire’s economic prosperity benefits everyone 
and supports resilient, clean growth. 

 Wellbeing and Opportunity: The people of Leicestershire live in a healthy 
environment and have the opportunities and support they need to take 
control of their health and wellbeing. 

 Keeping people safe: People in Leicestershire are safe and protected from 
harm. 

 Great Communities: Leicestershire communities are thriving and 
integrated places where people help and support each other and take pride 
in their local area. 

 Affordable and Quality Homes: Leicestershire has a choice of quality, 
sustainable homes that people can afford. 

 
6. The Council’s current NMP (2014-2026) was considered by the Environment and 

Transport Overview and Scrutiny Committee in March 2014 and approved by the 
Cabinet in April 2014.   

 
Background 
 
7. The Authority has a legal obligation (the ‘network management duty’) to manage 

its road network. The transport network is under strain and the Council continues 
to face numerous challenges. These challenges can negatively affect the smooth 
operation and performance of the highway network. 

8. Managing the road network is vital to the future prosperity of Leicestershire. The 
transport system has a key role to play in helping local economic prosperity and 
growth. Given the impact of congestion on the environment and economy, a 
strategic approach is required, one which considers the causes of congestion, 
the impacts, the challenges and the possible solutions. 

9. It is likely that government’s legal commitments on climate change and its plans 
to decarbonise transport may result in changes to the ‘network management 
duty’ and associated legislation. There is likely to be a lot of change in these 
areas over the coming years and our network management policies will need to 
be sufficiently agile to account for this, particularly those that are in relation to the 
environment and climate change 

 
10. National legislation remains largely unchanged. However, a range of new and 

emerging challenges mean that it is now appropriate to refresh the County 
Councils current NMP. 

11. Furthermore, it is important to reflect the latest work the County Council and its 
partners are undertaking in support of network management, i.e. around 
managing road works (through the Council’s Highway Permit Scheme), events, 
parking, encouraging sustainable travel and dealing with unplanned incidents. 

Network Management Framework 

12. As part of the refresh the document will also be restructured, to align the 
approach taken with similar policy documents in other areas of responsibility 
covered by the Council’s Environment and Transport department, i.e. asset 

74



 

management and passenger transport.  The refresh will therefore be carried out 
in a structured way, with the development of separate high-level policy and 
strategy documents which provide the direction and principles for the delivery of a 
more detailed operational level plan.  

13. The result will be a network management framework that consists of a Network 
Management Policy and Strategy that sets out the Council’s high-level principles, 
objectives and approach while the Network Management Plan will describe how  
the network is managed in practice. Together both documents provide a steer for 
the delivery of the Council’s day-to-day network management activities. 

14. The appendix provides an overview of the proposed content of the documents 
and the key policies and supporting principles which are divided into four main 
themes:- 

 Understanding the Network and its usage 

 Planning and development management 

 Highway management 

 Traffic Demand Management  
 

15. The documents refresh the existing NMP to allow it remains fit for the future 
without radically changing the approach to network management. 
 

16. The framework will play an important element in the delivery of Leicestershire’s 
LTP. It not only contributes to the delivery of local goals but will enable the 
Authority to meet its network management duty and contribute to delivering 
national objectives. It’s role in helping to to manage Leicestershire’s road 
network, is vital to the future prosperity of Leicestershire. Given the impact of 
congestion on the economy the framework provides a strategic approach, one 
that considers the causes of congestion, the impacts, the challenges and the 
possible solutions. 

 
17. It will enable the Authority to take a holistic approach to network management in 

Leicestershire. This will help to deliver positive outcomes for the environment, 
Leicestershire’s local economy and quality of life for the people who live, work 
and travel through Leicestershire. 

 
18. The refreshed network management framework is closely aligned to other 

developing policy and strategy documents across Environment and Transport 
services. It will require regular review and sense-checking while these 
documents are in development. Thereafter, it will be considered for review within 
five years, or earlier if there are significant changes in legislation, local 
circumstances, national policy or guidance that affects network management.  

 
19. This will ensure that the refreshed network management framework continues to 

reflect changes to national legislation, guidance and priorities and that any 
changes to local policies and new procedures and developments are reflected in 
the document. 

 
Consultation 
 
20. An authority-wide approach has been taken to the development of the refreshed 

network management framework. Those service areas within the Council’s 

75



 

Environment and Transport department, whose day-to-day business impacts on 
the operation, performance and development of the road network have assisted 
with its development. 
 

21. Additional focused engagement with external parties (including district councils, 
the police, bus operators and statutory undertakers) has also been carried out to 
ensure the content is refined to reflect views of key partners and stakeholders. 

 
Resource Implications 
 
22. The review of the Council’s NMP will support the savings required from the 

Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS). This will ensure that the council can 
maximise opportunities to deliver efficiencies and be flexible in adapting to 
changes in future budgets.  

 
23. Preparation of the refreshed network management framework has been funded 

from within Environment and Transport Department budgets.  
 

24. Delivery of the actions and activities set out in the refreshed network 
management framework, will continue to be funded from within existing 
Environment and Transport departmental budgets 

 
Timetable for Decisions 
 
25. The Committee is asked for its views on the approach being taken to refresh the 

County Council’s Network Management Plan. 
 

26. The draft network management framework (the Network Management Policy and 
Strategy and separate Network Management Plan documents) will be circulated 
to Committee members as part of Cabinet papers, giving an opportunity to 
provide written comments to Cabinet. 
 

27. The draft network management framework will be considered by the Cabinet on 
15th December. The comments of the Committee will be reported to the Cabinet. 
 

28. Subject to approval by Cabinet, it is intended that the refreshed network 
management framework will be published at the end of December 2020.  

 
Background Papers 
 
Cabinet - 1 April 2014 – Network Management Plan 2014-2026 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MID=3989#AI37760  
 
Cabinet – 18 September 2020 – MTFS latest position 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5997&Ver=4  
 
Cabinet – 24 March 2020 – E&T 2021 Highways Capital Programme  
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5993&Ver=4  
 
Leicestershire County Council current NMP (2014 - 2026)  
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2017/1/5/network_managem

ent_pan.pdf 
 

76

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MID=3989#AI37760
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5997&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5993&Ver=4
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2017/1/5/network_management_pan.pdf
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2017/1/5/network_management_pan.pdf


 

 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
29. None 
 
 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
30. The County Council has made a range of commitments to promote equality and 

diversity, and to reduce disadvantages and inequalities of opportunity. The aim 
of the refreshed network management framework is to set out the Authority’s 
approach to how the network in Leicestershire is managed, maintained and 
improved. 

 
31. A poorly functioning, congested and/or unsafe network could have a negative 

impact on the environment, economy, health and quality of life. This could affect 
health, earning ability, reduce access to life opportunities (such as healthcare, 
education and training) and could lead to social isolation. 

 
32. The refreshed network management framework focusses on those areas that are 

most in need and will provide the greatest benefits. Transport solutions that 
could help to address issues will help all users of the network, including the 
protected characteristics. 

 

33. The review of the NMP provides an opportunity to describe the positive work the 
Authority carries out that supports network management and the wider 
environmental agenda. As far as possible, our approach to network management 
will focus on making the best use of our existing road network and reducing 
unnecessary demand on it, through reducing the need to travel and promoting 
walking, cycling and passenger transport alternatives. 

 

34. Where relevant an appropriate environmental impact assessment will be 
completed as specific proposals are developed. 

 

Partnership Working and Associated Issues 

35. Working with key partners, such as neighbouring authorities and Highways 
England, will be increasingly important in seeking to provide a better managed 
network in Leicestershire 

 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A - PowerPoint presentation on the refreshed network management framework  
 
 
Officers to Contact 
 
Ann Carruthers 

Director, Environment and Transport 

77



 

Telephone: (0116) 305 7000 

Email: Ann.Carruthers@leics.gov.uk    

 

Ian Vears 

Assistant Director, Environment and Transport 

Telephone:  (0116) 305 7966 

Email: Ian.Vears@leics.gov.uk  

78

mailto:Ann.Carruthers@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Ian.Vears@leics.gov.uk


`

Network Management Plan

Refresh

E&T Overview and Scrutiny Committee

5 November 2020

79

ctuohy
Text Box

ctuohy_1
Typewritten Text
Appendix A



The road network 

The road network plays an important role in 

keeping people and places connected, 

especially in a rural county such as 

Leicestershire.

A network that enables people to get to and 

from home, work, leisure and education etc, is 

vital in supporting economic activity, meeting 

future housing and employment needs and 

enabling a good quality of life for residents, 

visitors and businesses.

However, having an efficient and effective road 

network is not just about the movement of 

private cars and goods vehicles. It is also vital 

for walking, cycling and public transport Leicestershire, showing motorways, A, B and C roads

80



Network Management Plan - background

• The Traffic Management Act (TMA) 2004 places a duty on 

Local Highway Authorities (LHA’s) to manage the road 

network and to “secure the expeditious movement of traffic 

on the authority’s road network …”

• A Network Management Plan is optional, but government 

encourages LHA’s to prepare one.  

• Leicestershire County Council’s current NMP* (2014 -

2026) was approved by its Cabinet in 2014. It: 

o Describes how the Authority meets its network 

management duty

o Reflects the positive work the Authority and its partners 

carry out that supports network management 

o Acts as a high level ‘policy’ document for our day-to-

day network management activities. 

* https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2017/1/5/network_management_plan.pdf

81

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2017/1/5/network_management_plan.pdf


Reason for refresh

Although national legislation remains largely unchanged, the existing 

NMP needs refreshing to better reflect:

• Current/ future challenges; growth pressures on the road network, 

financial pressures, customer expectations and new and emerging 

local, regional and national priorities.

• Plus, the latest activities /actions the county council and its partners 

are taking in support of network management, i.e. managing road 

works (though the highway permit scheme), events, parking, 

encouraging sustainable travel and dealing with unplanned incidents.

The existing NMP will therefore be refreshed and updated to ensure it 

remains fit for the future.  The Authority is not radically changing its 

overall approach to network management. 

,

82



Emerging themes and challenges

There are also a number of other emerging themes 

and  on-going challenges to managing the 

network; 

• Environment agenda and carbon targets

• Flooding and network resilience

• Making the most of new technology

• Facilitating developer works

• Impacts of other significant third party works                  

on the network e.g. HS2.

• Covid-19

Given the scale and the range of challenges, going 

forward it will be necessary to take an agile approach 

to network management, which can adapt and 

evolve to take account of emerging evidence.

83



Restructuring the NMP

We also intend to restructure the 

existing NMP into two separate  

documents:

• Network Management Policy 

and Strategy 

• Network Management Plan 

84



Network Management Policy and Strategy  

The Network Management Policy and Strategy (NMPS) will be a 

separate high level document, which describes

• the challenges the authority faces 

• the legal context

• the wider local, regional and national policy/ context 

• our strategic approach to network management and the key 

policies we will continue to adopt. 

Key policies will provide a statement of the broad objectives and 

overarching structure and direction that the County Council will adopt in 

managing the operation, performance and development of 

Leicestershire’s highway network.

Again, whilst not radically changing our overall approach, the refreshed 

policies will ensure we adopt and develop a strategic risk-based 

approach to network management, that is agile and can adapt to 

change and future challenges outlined in the previous section. Cont’d…

85



NMPS- Network Management Policies

1) Develop and operate a holistic network management approach. 

This will ensure the optimal use of the Council’s resources, strategically managing the operation, 

performance and development of the county’s highway network for the benefit of all current and 

future users. 

2) Manage the operation, performance and development of the network based on     

a balanced risk-based approach, which incorporates all available evidence. 

This will ensure decision making takes account of the safety of stakeholders, customer 

expectations, network hierarchy, levels of use, travel demand, network resilience, environmental 

impact, network condition, maintenance and available resources. It will also ensure our approach is 

agile enough to adapt to any future changes in policy, objectives or priorities.

3) Employ a flexible approach to reviewing, amending and developing the    

network, in planning for the housing and economic needs of Leicester and 

Leicestershire’s population.

This will ensure that the network reflects changing travel demand and traffic patterns.

4) Engage and consult with all partners and stakeholders, where appropriate, 

and lead by example, applying the same standards and approaches to our 

own network activities as to those of others.

This will ensure we take account of the needs and expectations of partners and stakeholders, 

maintain parity and balance between the interests of the various parties and continue to build 

effective collaborative working relationships.

86



Network Management Plan 

The Network Management Plan (NMP) document will 

describe in more detail how we fulfil our network 

management duty. This is based around four main themes:

1. Understanding the network and its usage: 

How we collect/use data and intelligence and how we       

will continue to improve our understanding of the network    

in the future.

2. Planning and development management: 

How we manage the development of the network and the 

impact of growth.

3. Highway management: 

How we manage planned events (such as road works and maintenance) and 

unplanned events (such as road traffic collisions and severe weather events).

4. Traffic demand management 

How we manage demand on the network and encourage sustainable travel

The Plan also includes a series of ‘supporting principles’, which provides guidance 
for day-to-day operational delivery.

87



NMP- Understanding the network and its usage  (1)

Key changes incorporated into new refreshed plan:

• Regularly reviewing our various road network hierarchies and classifications, where 

appropriate to improve our understanding of the network and help us make better informed 

decision making, i.e. when planning road works or considering priorities for investment.

• Developing our proactive approach to engagement, working alongside members and 

parish and local communities, seeking new and improved methods of communication.

• Utilising our Confirm Highway Management System to help gather local intelligence and 

feedback from customers about the road network.

• Utilising new technology to gather and deliver traffic data and intelligence, in smarter and 

more cost effective ways.

• Utilising our suite of transport models; 

- Leicester, Leicestershire and midlands, Pan Regional Transport Model (PRTM) to 

assess the strategic impact of policies, development and infrastructure improvements.

- new suite of micro-simulation transport models to provide intelligence on, and test 

transport solutions for our market towns and provide evidence for future funding bids.

88



NMP- Understanding the network and its usage  (2)

Supporting Principles

SP1 The County Council will continue to develop a robust evidence base which 

considers a wide range of transport, economic, social and environmental intelligence:

• to improve our understanding of how the network is used and how it performs 

now and in the future at a local and wider strategic level;

• to understand the impacts of growth and influence the nature and location of 

growth;

• to make informed decisions on the development of future policy interventions, 

priorities for investment, scheme development and the management of 

road/street work activities.

SP2 The County Council will engage and consult with stakeholders, as appropriate, to 

understand expectations and support our understanding of the network and its 

usage.

SP3 The County Council will continue to take account of a number of network 

classifications and hierarchies to help make informed network management 

decisions.

SP4 The County Council will continue to review and develop our network management 

approach across all service areas, seeking ways of working more efficiently.

89



NMP- Planning and Development  (1) 

Key changes incorporated into new refreshed plan:

• Clarification on LCCs role as a Local Highway Authority and as a statutory 

consultee in the planning process, and with regards to air quality matters.

• Working with districts to support Local Plan development, within the framework of 

the Strategic Growth Plan. 

• Encouraging and facilitating early engagement with developers at the earliest 

opportunity to minimise the construction impacts of their works- this includes the 

consideration of suitable construction routes.

• Ensuring third party improvements are delivered in accordance with our Highway 

Asset Management Policy and Strategy and do not place unnecessary financial 

burdens on the public purse with regards to future asset maintenance.

90



NMP- Planning and Development  (2) 

Supporting Principles

SP1 In planning for future population and economic growth and the development required to support it, the 

County Council will seek to ensure that our highway network continues to operate safely and perform as 

efficiently and reliably as possible. 

SP2 To ensure that new development does not adversely affect the movement of traffic on our network (including 

the ability of traffic to access the new development), we will:

• require developments proposed through planning applications to be in accordance with our Design 

Guide and other appropriate planning and highway policies;

• expect and encourage site promoters to engage with us at the earliest possible stage. 

SP3 Within the planning system the County Council, as the Local Highway Authority, will:

• continue to work with District and Borough Councils and other stakeholders at a strategic level to 

encourage the delivery of sustainable development in the most appropriate areas;

• encourage promoters of development to provide credible and robust transport evidence to demonstrate 

the potential impact of their proposals and any mitigation measures and seek to assist them to achieve 

this through the provision of guidance and advice (e.g. at pre-application stage);

• assess the scale of impacts of proposed development on the highway network using a case-by-case, 

balanced, risk-based approach which incorporates all available evidence, in line with NPPF; 

• seek to secure funding from site promoters for suitable infrastructure across all transport modes, where 

the planning system allows, to reduce the adverse impacts of development proposals on the highway 

network; 

• ensure that third party improvements or additions to our network are delivered in accordance with our 

Highway Asset Management Policy and Strategy and do not place unnecessary financial burdens on the 

authority with regards to future asset maintenance.

91



NMP- Planning and Development  (3) 

Supporting Principles (Cont’d)

SP4 Limit the demand for travel, particularly by private car, by resisting development proposals that:

• are located in inappropriate locations (e.g. residential developments with poor access to employment or local 

facilities);

• would have a severe impact on:

- routes to major employment sites;

- routes and linkages to major retail sites;

- main commuter routes;

- core bus network routes;

- areas of existing congestion;

- routes or junctions with recorded safety issues (personal injury collisions);

- are in areas which don’t have adequate walking, cycling and public transport facilities, unless these will be 

provided by the developer

in line with the NPPF and local plans and policies.

SP5 To minimise the disruption caused by construction of new developments, including associated works on or affecting 

the highway (such as access improvements or service connections) and movement of construction traffic, we require 

site promoters to follow the principles set out in our Road and Street Works Framework Guide.

SP6 Seek to minimise the impacts of construction traffic on the safe and efficient operation of the highway network and on 

local communities by requiring site promoters to submit construction traffic management plans which use the most 

appropriate routes available, for example by:

• using the lorry routing network wherever possible;

• giving first consideration to higher-quality routes such as A roads and the Major Road Network:

• avoiding routes that pass-by vulnerable locations wherever possible, e.g. schools;

• considering the use of haul roads.

92



NMP- Highway Management  (1)

Key changes incorporated into new refreshed plan:

• Operating our Highway Permit Scheme to better plan, manage and coordinate road and street 

works. Demonstrating parity between how our work, and third party works, are delivered.

• Regular road and street works coordination meetings with works promoters such as utility 

companies.

• Promoting use of national One.Network website as a single point of information for road works

• Consideration of Lane Rental Scheme to reduce occupation on most traffic sensitive parts of the 

county road network

• Work with neighbouring highway authorities (including Highways England) and the Police to agree 

suitable Emergency Diversion Routes.

• Clarification on LCCs role as a Lead Local Flood Authority.

• Work with works promoters and the above to agree suitable diversion routes for planned works.

• Work closely with partners in the Leicestershire and Rutland Local Resilience Forum (LRF) to plan 

for and manage major incidents.

• Dedicated HS2 team to work proactively with HS2 Ltd to maximise the opportunity to reduce 

construction impacts on county road network.

93



NMP- Highway Management  (2) 

Supporting Principles

SP1 In bringing in measures to better plan, schedule and manage planned activities on the highway 

network (e.g. the Highway Permit Scheme) the county council will; 

• apply the same standards and approaches to our own activities as we do to others, 

demonstrating parity between standards for others and ourselves (for instance our own 

contractors will be subject to the same restrictions and directions as utility companies);

• provide the necessary time and space to support the safe and efficient implementation of 

maintenance and improvement work to the network and the services running underneath it;

• continue to manage the appropriate balance between the potentially conflicting interests of 

road users and activity promoters and their customers;

• maintain close co-operation and collaborative good practice working arrangements with all 

stakeholders, including highways users and works promoters. 

SP2 The county council will expect that third-party improvements or additions to our network are 

delivered in accordance with our Highway Asset Management Policy and Strategy and do not 

place unnecessary financial burdens on the authority with regards to future asset maintenance.

SP3 The county council will expect all promoters of planned activities on the highway network to;

• provide early engagement and timely, clear, accurate and appropriate information to 

stakeholders such as parish and district councils, businesses, local residents and public 

transport operators;

• provide evidence that they have considered and understood the breadth/ impact of their 

proposals on all road users, including public transport and adequately mitigated any adverse 

avoidable impacts before they are implemented.

94



NMP- Highway Management  (3) 

Supporting Principles (Cont’d)

SP4 The county council will seek to minimise the impact of unplanned disruptive events, such as road 

traffic accidents, flooding and snow and ice by ensuring that the actions we take are well planned 

and effectively coordinated and managed, so as to minimise disruption to the network.

SP5 In dealing with activities and obstacles on the highway the county council will we try to balance 

the street scene and the needs of the public, including those with visual or mobility difficulties, 

when assessing the degree of obstruction or nuisance. We will use our statutory powers where 

appropriate and take enforcement action in relation to unnecessary and illegal occupation of the 

highway network.

SP6 In carrying out in duties and exercising its powers under the Highways Act 1980 to maintain the 

highway, the county council will;

• ensure that our network management duty is a key consideration when planning our highway 

maintenance functions;

• as far as is reasonably practicable, ensure highway maintenance treatments are delivered in 

accordance with our network management duty and do not cause any unnecessary delays to 

those travelling on our road network.

95



NMP- Traffic Demand Management  (1)

Key changes incorporated into new refreshed plan:

• Focusing on making the most of our existing road network to support our climate change and carbon 

commitments, through;

- delivering behavioural change measures, promoted under ChooseHowYouMove website.

- securing government and developer funding to implement walking and cycling infrastructure

• Implementing TROs to control traffic movement and parking.

• Operating a network of HGV weight restrictions to control lorry movements across county.

• Working with the police to manage abnormal load movements across the county.

• Working with district partners on parking enforcement, including use of camera car.

• Carrying out county town parking reviews.

• Working with partners to take a multi-faceted approach to school parking.

• Consideration of financial measures to restrain demand.

• Exploring possibility of increasing size of road network- building new junctions or roads. 

• Utilising new traffic signal technology to better manage the network, e.g. more intelligent temporary 

signals to assist all road users, including peds and cyclists during works

96



NMP- Traffic Demand Management  (2)

Supporting Principles

SP1 The County Council will seek to make the most effective use of our existing road network by;

• exploring opportunities to improve the operational capacity and efficiency of the highway network 

including the operation and management of controlled signal junctions;

• making the best use of new technology and innovations to manage traffic on the road network;

• seeking to ensure that the most appropriate TROs are in place and suitably enforced with the 

powers and resources available;

• developing future programmes of traffic management interventions supported by robust evidence 

and stakeholder support, to help manage congestion, provide more reliable journey times and 

direct traffic onto the most appropriate parts of the network.

SP2 The County Council will seek to reduce the level of demand on the existing road network by;

• ensuring that the needs of all highway users are taken into account when road capacity 

improvements are considered;

• developing infrastructure and initiatives to influence travel choice in order to support and encourage 

walking and cycling, where these can offer a viable alternative to the car;

• continuing to support and encourage the use of the public transport network by working with 

stakeholders, including commercial operators;

• considering the introduction of inventions to restrain demand, where this could provide significant 

benefit in managing traffic on our network.

SP3 The County Council will also explore the possibility of increasing network capacity by increasing 

the size of network, where it can be justified as the only viable option, and where it provides evidence 

of a realistic deliverable solution.

97



NMP- Actions and Review

Action Plan

• No stand alone action plan contained within NMP.

• Actions /activities set out within the NMP will be captured and formally set out 

within the E&T business plan along with other services we deliver.

• Ensures actions are embedded within departmental and service/team action 

plans.

• Progress reported on, in line with the County Council’s wider business plan 

reporting process and corporate planning framework.

Update and review  

• The NMP is closely aligned to other developing policy and strategy documents 

across E&T services. It will require regular review and sense-checking while 

these documents are in development.

• Thereafter, it will be considered for review within 5 years or earlier if there are 

significant changes in legislation, local circumstances, national policy or guidance 

that affects network management. 

98



Next steps

Date(s) Activity

October 2020 Key external stakeholder 

engagement

5th November 2020 Environment and Transport 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee

15th December 2020 Cabinet (approval to adopt)

End of December 2020 Publication (subject to approval)

99



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 3 September 2020.
	8 Environment and Transport Annual Performance Report 2019/2020.
	Appendix A.1 - Transport Performance Annual Report Dashboard, 201920
	Appendix A.2 - Environment and Waste Annual Report Dashboard, 201920
	Appendix B.1- Transport Performance Delivery Narrative, 201920
	Appendix B.2 - Environment and Waste Performance Delivery Narrative, 201920

	9 Highway Capital Programme 2020/2021 Update.
	Appendix A  - Highway Capital Programme Feb 2020 and September 2020 Refresh Tables.

	10 Community Speed Enforcement Initiative.
	11 Network Management Plan Refresh.
	Appendix A - NMP Refresh Presentation




